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Driving innovation

In materials discovery:
Symyx's powerful integrated
research platform

Symyx is meeting the demand for more powerful and
innovative discoveries and discovery methodologies in
today’s increasingly competitive business environment.
Our high-throughput research technologies dramatically
reduce the time and cost to achieve desired results,
while greatly increasing the probability of success.

Our proprietary capabilities represent a significant
investment in people, equipment and software. We have
assembled a cross-disciplinary scientific and technical
team comprised of chemists, physicists, engineers and
programmers and leveraged their skills to create,
validate and apply our technologies and methods.

The result is a uniquely powerful and highly integrated
research platform for accelerating every step in the
experimental process, from design and testing

through analysis.




Creating value. Driving growth. Building profitability.

Symyx has pioneered high-throughput research for
materials discovery by applying the same concepts of
automation, miniaturization and parallel processing that
have revolutionized the discovery of new pharmaceutical
compounds. We have ten years of experience in creating

the tools and techniques needed to run hundreds and even
thousands of experiments in parallel, covering a much
broader experimental space at less cost and in less time
compared to traditional one-at-a-time testing. Our highly
integrated, complete workflows — including instrumentation,
software and methcds — provide a high-throughput solution
for performing materials synthesis, testing, and data analysis.
These workflows fully integrate our automated instrumenta-
tion with our proprietary software to enable researchers to

seamlessly design and execute experiments, and to
capture, analyze, and mine data. We realize value from

our advances through the implementation of a diversified
business model which provides multiple sources of revenue,
including fees from collaborative research, royalties from
cammercialized materials, sales of Discovery Tools, and
licensing of our software, materials, technologies, and
intellectual property. Since our initial public offering in
November 1999, we have continued to deliver compound
revenue growth in excess of 20% per annum. As we move
forward, we are also continuing to build profitability from a
shifting mix of business which emphasizes growth through
broad alliances with industry leading companies, Symyx
Renaissance® and IntelliChem® software licensing,

and royalties from commercialized discoveries.
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ARCH COLLABORATIONS

- commercialization of materials we discover.

We enter into collaborative research agreements with companies
seeking to transform their research productivity while reducing
costs. Our research partners have access to our highest-through-
put proprietary systems, which we employ to discover and
optimize materials, processes, or formulations in exclusive fields.
In return, these partners provide us with profitable research
funding and downstream royalties or other payments from the

DISCOVERY TOOLS

We enable customers to rapidly implement high-throughput
experimentation through the purchase of our proprietary
Discovery Tools workflows. These validated, production-tested
systems integrate instrumentation and software to allow scientists
to achieve as much as a 100-fold increase in research productivity.
We offer customers the flexibility of purchasing either complete
workflows or individualized workflow components, known as
CORE[)™ modules. As customers become familiar with our
technology and tools, they can invest in additional components
over time and grow their in-house research capabilities

with Symyx.

2004 REVENUE SOURCES

Licenses and
Royalties

Services

Products

SOFTWARE

ALL

IANCES

We license our Renaissance and IntelliChem software to enhance
experiment design, laboratory automation, data capture, data
analysis/visualization, and data communication in high-throughput
and traditional research environments. Qur Renaissance software
is a highly integrated suite of software designed to facilitate the
process of designing, executing, and evaluating chemical and
materials research and development. Our IntelliChem suite of
applications allows pharmaceutical and chemical companies to
replace paper lab notebooks with intelligent electronic lab
notebook [iELN) software and provides decision-support tools

to help scientists make better decisions to speed discovery.

LICENSING

Customers may also access our technologies and certain
methodologies by licensing our patents, discovered materials,
and select technologies. We license some of our patents to
enable customers to implement initial approaches to high-
throughput research on a smaller scale. These licenses are
limited typically by the number of experiments for an annual fee.
We license materials that we discover in our collaborative or
internal research programs in return for royatties. Finally, we
license certain technologies, such as our sensors, to manufac-
turers to advance their product lines.

We initiate strategic alliances with companies
interested in integrating and broadly applying our
technologies across their entire research organizations.
By widely employing our research methods, Discovery
Tools workflows, and proprietary informatics software
throughout their laboratories, these partners can
achieve a broad change in their research and
development capabilities and efficiencies.
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fn the chemical industry, Symyx develops and applies
proprietary high-throughput technologies to make break-
through discoveries leading to new or improved commercial
processes and materials for commodity, specialty and fine
chemical applications, as well as polyolefins and environ-
mental applications. In our collaborations with polyolefin
producers, we use our novel techniques to rapidly synthesize,
screen and characterize new families of catalysts that deliver
unigue and valuable performance properties. We also sell
some of our high-throughput warkflows in the chemical area,
for use in applications such as catalyst discovery and polymer
properties screening.

Symyx’s six-year relationship with The Dow Chemical
Company exemplifies the ability of our people and tech-
nologies to deliver significant value through increased
collaborative research and development productivity. In
January 1999, we initiated our first agreement with Dow in
polyolefins research. Then, in June 2000, Dow became the
first customer to purchase our Discovery Tools polyolefins
workflow. {n January 2002, we announced a multi-year exten-
sion of our research collaboration, and in September 2004,
we reached a significant milestone when Dow announced the
commercialization of VERSIFY* Plastomers and Elastomers,
a unique product family manufactured using revolutionary
catalysts discovered under our collaboration with Dow.

[n just over two years, Dow was able to take a catalyst that
was discovered in our collaboration labs and put it into
commercial production. VERSIFY plastomers and elastomers
can be used in a number of large applications, including
packaging and consumer products.

VERSIFY Plastomers and Elastomers:
Validating our royalty model

The commerciatization of Dow’s VERSIFY Plastomers and
Elastomers in September 2004 was a major milestone for Symyx
that validates one of the key tenets of our business model—
that we can discover important breakthrough materials for our
customers which they will move forward into commercialized
products. To create VERSIFY, we worked with Dow scientists to
discover and characterize novel catalysts that both teams
believe could not have been found by relying only on traditional
research methods. The resulting product offers advanced
features, including optical clarity, elasticity and soft touch,
motivating Dow to advance it from initial pilot plant testing to
commercial production in just over two years. We expect to
begin receiving royalties from the sale of the VERSIFY family
of polymers early in 2005.

“a trademark of The Dow Chemical Company




> How can companies enhance the development of new products and
processes to expand markets and meet customers’ changing needs”?

> How can researchers make better decisions in a shorter timeframe,
resulting in increased research productivity and improved results?

> How can companies transition their research laboratories to
high-throughput capabilities to gain key competitive advantages?

Petrochemicals

Symyx works with campanies in the oil and gas industry

to increase efficiency in areas such as gas conversion,

fuel formulations and processing, and hydroprocessing
chemistries. To achieve the objectives of our research collab-
orations, we develop and utilize highly-integrated, automated
laboratory workflows combining proprietary instruments and
software to dramatically speed the discovery and optimization
of new materials or manufacturing processes. Some of these
high-throughput workflows are available for purchase
through our Discovery Tools product offerings.

Our relationship with the Exxan Mohil Corporation dates back
to 2000, when the company became both a Discovery Tools
customer and a Research Collaborations partner. Through
these agreerments, we were able to demonstrate the power
of Symyx’s technologies both in our laboratories and in theirs.
Our success in working together to discover new catalysts

led to the initiation of a broad-based strategic alliance with
ExxonMabil in July 2003. This five-year agreement centers

on integrating and applying our technologies across
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ExxonMobil's core refining and chemical businesses to
provide key competitive advantages. Under the alliance, we
are working with ExxonMabil to accelerate the development of

new chemicals, lubricants, and fuels products and processes
to grow and expand markets to better meet customers’
changing needs.

Since the initiation of the alliance, we have moved forward
with a variety of catalyst discovery and technology develop-
ment programs as well as the rollout of our Renaissance
software throughout ExxonMobil's research and development
organization. We have also commenced sales of Discovery
Tools workflows to the company with the delivery of a catalyst
system in the second quarter of 2004 and additional Discovery
Tools deliveries in the third and fourth quarters of the year.

ExxonMobil Alliance:
Model for sustained, long-term growth

ExxonMobil's five-year strategic alliance with Symyx is a model
for other exclusive, broad-based relationships with customers
and represents a major driver of our growth going forward.
Focused on enhancing R&D productivity, the alliance impacts
three of our major business areas. First, we continue to expand
our collaborative research efforts in catalysis and formulations
with ExxanMobil. Second, ExxonMobil is transitioning its
research laboratories to high-throughput capabilities by
implementing our Discovery Tools workflows and deploying
our Renaissance software to support a “data-driven” research
organization. Third, ExxonMobil also licenses certain intellectual
property from the Symyx portfolio. Under the alliance,
ExxonMobil has committed funding of over $200 million to
Symyx, plus additional royalty revenue upon commercialization
of materials discovered under the agreement.
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> How can companies improve the speed and effectiveness of

preclinical drug development?
> How can companies realize improvements in their research
efficiency by accelerating the planning, execution, and interpretation

of experiments?

> How can researchers eliminate paper notebooks, harness
the ideas and discoveries made by individual researchers,
run more experiments per day, and improve access to data?




Symyx offers the pharmaceutical industry a range of
Discovery Tools workflows that address critical bottlenecks in
the preclinical drug development process. These integrated
hardware and software workflows accelerate a number of
development steps, including determining the optimal physi-
cal form of a drug candidate for clinical trials, identifying the
most appropriate manufacturing process for a compound,
testing a drug candidate for solubility, and facilitating enzyme
catalysis for small molecule drug synthesis. We also conduct
compound research studies for pharmaceutical and biotech-
nology customers, giving them the opportunity to evaluate the
ability of our technology to improve the speed and effective-
ness of drug development.

Merck, Amgen, Eli Lilly and Company, and Pfizer are among
the growing number of pharmaceutical companies that have
discovered the benefits of implementing our high-throughput
workflows in their laboratories. We are also seeing adoption
of our CORE[x) modularization strategy, introduced early in
2004. This approach gives customers greater flexibility by
allowing them to purchase one component of a complete
workflow at a time with the assurance that they will be able
to integrate the workflows and data management of different
research processes at any time.

Renaissance software: Transforming research
through data integration

At Symyx, we continue to expand our software business,
focused on the licensing of our Renaissance software on a
stand-alone, renewable basis to pharmaceutical, chemical

and petrochemical customers. Suitable for use in both high-
throughput and conventional research environments, this highly
integrated software suite offers broad capabilities ranging from
experimental design and instrument automation to data capture,
analysis and mining-all integrated on a single backbone.

To provide an even more powerful software platform for
customers, in November 2004 we acquired IntelliChem, Inc.

and are integrating its intelligent electronic lab notebook (iELN)
software with our Renaissance software suite to provide a
unified set of tools for improving the efficiency of the

R&D process.

IntelliChem acquisition: Enhanced software offering

Our acquisition of IntelliChem, Inc. in November 2004 enabled
us to extend our Renaissance software suite and demonstrates
our commitment to software as a significant growth area for
Symyx. IntelliChem’s intelligent electronic lab notebook (iELN)
software is designed to replace the paper notebooks used by
pharmaceutical and chemical researchers, allowing them to run
more experiments per day and to improve their ability to search,
query and share data. By combining IntelliChem's iELN solutions
with our Renaissance software, we provide scientists with a
robust, broad, and easy-to-use set of time-saving and enabling
tools for planning and executing experiments. These tools will
also benefit the entire enterprise by giving scientists, engineers
and project managers real-time collaborative decision-support
and analysis capabilities.




LETTER TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS

DISCOVERED MATERIALS PIPELINE
as of January 2005

Commercialized Discoveries ‘:’DD 3
Potential 2006 Commercialization JOJOCI] 5
Potential 2007 Commercialization [1[J{7] 3

Potential 2008+ Commercialization [JO OO 4

Emerging Development Candidates 1100000000040 12

2004 was a year of extraordinary achievement for Symyx, as we began to see companies in major industries apply the full power
of our technolagies to transform their R&D productivity. As a result, we were able to grow all areas of our business while
strengthening the drivers for our ongoing success.

The Dow Chemical Company signed a broad-based strategic alliance with Symyx, committing in excess of $120 million

over the five-year term of the agreement. We also began or extended relationships with BP, Univation, and several unnamed
collaborators in healthcare and chemicals. We reached major milestones with the commercialization of two additional products
fram our materials pipeline — YERSIFY Elastomers and Plastomers which were manufactured using catalysts discavered in our
collaboration with Dow, and new electronic materials containing polymers made by JSR Corporation under a license from
Symyx. In addition, we continued to build our software licensing business, conducting pilot studies for several customers,
completing rollouts to ExxonMobil and Pfizer, adding GE as a new licensee and acquiring IntelliChem to broaden our software
offering. We also increased sales of Discovery Tools workflows and successfully launched our line of CORE[x] modules for
pharmaceutical applications.

These accomplishments underscore the strength of our technology innovation, the ability of high-throughput research to impact
the marketplace, and the power of our integrated business offerings to deliver total solutions to customers and economic value to
stockhotders. Going forward, we expect that we will continue to have a profitable business based upon a solid, multi-pronged
strategy for growth.

Building alliances with customers. In December 2004, we announced a major new strategic initiative with Dow focused
on using our high-throughput research, Discovery Tools and informatics solutions to enhance productivity and innovation
throughout Dow's R&D organization. This alliance is the culmination of a six-year relationship during which Dow has been a
research collaborator, a Discovery Tools customer, and most recently, the producer of a unique polymer family based on an
innovative family of catalysts discovered in our collaboration with Dow.




Left to right:

STEVEN D. GOLDBY
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

ISY GOLDWASSER
President

JERYL L. HILLEMAN
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

PAUL J. NOWAK
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

W. HENRY WEINBERG, PH.D.
Executive Vice President and Chief Technical Officer

Similar to the broad-based alliance initiated with ExxonMobil last year, this agreement is a significant validation of Symyx's ability
to deliver competitive advantages through the transformation of our customers’ R&D organizations and processes. Under these
alliances, we execute research projects in exclusive fields, broadly deploy our Renaissance software suite, develop and transfer
Discovery Tools workflows, license some of our intellectual property, and provide training and other services. The alliance yields
substantial, ongoing revenue streams for Symyx, increasing our backlog of committed revenue to over $300 million as we enter

2005. Looking ahead, we expect to build on our Dow and ExxonMobil alliances to secure additional large multi-year arrangements
with other leading companies.

Increasing royalty stream from commercialized products. The emergence of two additional commercialized products from
our materials pipeline in 2004 positions us to receive a growing stream of royalty revenue in coming years. In September, Dow
announced the commercial production of VERSIFY Elastomers and Plastomers, a new family of co-polymers produced using a
novel catalyst technology discovered in our collaboration with Dow. VERSIFY polymers offer improved performance properties for
an array of applications such as flexible and clear lids, films for food and specialty packaging, and fibers for consumer products.
In December, Tokyo-based JSR Corporation announced the launch of commercial sales of new electronic materials containing
polymers licensed from Symyx. Additionally, we are receiving royalties from Agfa related to sales of its computed radiography
system incorporating an X-ray phosphor we discovered, and Celanese, Dow and other companies are progressing with the
development of Symyx-discovered catalysts and other materials for possible near-term commercialization.

Expanding software business. We are focused on building our software business through stand-alone, renewable licenses to
pharmaceutical, chemical and petrochemical companies. Qur Renaissance software enables researchers to automate and link
experiment design and execution, as well as data capture, analysis and storage via a common database. We completed planned
rollouts of our software within ExxonMobil and Pfizer in the past year, and currently have licenses or pilot evaluations in place
with a number of companies, including Bristol Myers-Squibb, BP, Dow and GE. To enhance our software offering for use in
traditional as well as high-throughput research environments, we are integrating our Renaissance software suite with intelligent
electronic lab notebook [IELN] software obtained through our acquisition of IntelliChem, Inc., in November.
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We have also seen good momentum in our Discovery Tools business in 2004, delivering either complete workflows or CORE[x]
modules to ExxonMobil, Pfizer, Merck, Amgen, Yamanouchi, North Dakota State University and others. To support the further
growth of these business areas, in June we welcomed Paul Nowak to Symyx as Chief Operating Officer. Paul's focus is on
managing our Discovery Tools, Renaissance and IntelliChem software, and sensor business opportunities.

Growing licensing activities. Comprised of more than 230 issued patents and 390 patent applications, our intellectual property
portfolio is the largest in the field of high-throughput materials discovery, giving us a major strategic asset that supports all of
our business areas. In 2004, we licensed selected methodology patents to UOP LLC, a supplier and licensor of process tech-
nology, catalyst and technical services to the petrochemical industry. In addition, General Electric Company, acting through GE
Global Research, recently extended their intellectual property licensing agreement initiated in May 2002. In the area of technology
innovation, we continue to stimulate interest in our miniature microresonating sensors among a variety of customers. At present,
we have four licensees across a range of industrial applications, including with Hella KG for use in automotive motor oil testing,
and with Univation for use in reactor monitoring.

Finally, this past year we marked our tenth anniversary since our founding and our fifth anniversary since our IPO. We are
proud of our accomplishments, grateful to the employees who made them possible, and confident that we have the technology
and business momentum to bring about a new wave of innovation in materials science for the benefit of customers and
stockholders, alike.

v Ay

Steven Goldby
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Symyx Technologies, Inc.
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Symyx Technologies, Inc.
Selected Financial Data

The following selected historical information has been derived from our audited financial statements. The financial information as of

December 31, 2004 and 2003 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 are derived from audited financial
statements included on pages 34 to 71 in this Annual Report. The table should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” on pages 15 to 33 and the audited financial statements.

For the Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands except for share data) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS QF OPERATIONS DATA:

Revenue:
Service revenue $ 34,999 $ 42,629 $ 35,397 $ 37,018 $ 41,078
Service revenue — related party - - — 1,671 1.173
Product sales 5,919 14,216 25,877 14,458 27,060
License fees and royalties 2,400 3,175 3,547 9816 13,724
License fees and royalties - related party — - — - 150

Total revenue 43,318 60,020 64,821 62,963 83,185

Operating expenses:
Cost of products sold 2,775 6,591 6,239 2,937 7,857
Research and development 35,898 38,718 39,307 38,387 39.969
Research and development — related party — - — 1,671 1,173
Sales, general and administrative 11,798 12,524 14,592 14,933 18,238
Acquired in-process research and development — — — — 2,260

Total operating expenses 50,471 57,833 60,138 57,928 69,497
Income {loss) from operations (7,153] 2,187 4,683 5,035 13,688
Interest and other income 7,155 6117 3,269 1,996 2,527
Interest and other expense (924} (660 (9 — —
Income [loss] before income tax expense (922 7,644 7,943 7,031 16,209
Income tax expense — 1,306 2,657 1,290 3,327
Net income (loss) $ (922) $ 4,338 $ 5,286 $ 5,741 $ 12.882
Basic net income (loss) per share (0.o3l $ 021 $ 017 $ 018 $ 040
Shares used in computing basic net income (loss] per share 28,873 29,904 30,647 31,199 32,067
Diluted net income [loss) per share $ (003 $ 020 $ 017 $ 018 $ 038
Shares used in computing diluted net incame (loss) per share 28,873 31,196 31,638 32,470 33,872
December 31,

{In thousands) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities $ 111,040 $ 113,326 $ 118,020 $ 138,698 $ 136,541
Working capital 98,139 101,925 118,363 131,154 142,361
Total assets 146,221 151,070 157,368 177,536 207,002
L.ong-term obligations, less current portion 3.010 - - - —
Total stockholders’ equity 123,651 134,497 145,483 159,438 191,009




Symyx Technologies, Inc.

Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Ope;fation and other parts of this Annual Report
contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncer-
tainties, within thé meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended. These statements typically may be identified
by the use of foMérd-looking words or phrases such as "may,”
“will,” "believe,” "expect,” "plan,” “intend,” “goal,” "anticipate,”
“should,” "plahhed," “estimated,” “potential,” and “continue,” or
the negative thereof or other comparable terminology regarding
beliefs, plans, expectations or intentions regarding the future.

The cautionary statements made in this Report should be read as
being applicable to all related forward-looking statements
whenever they appear in this Annual Report.

Forward-looking statements include, without limitation, state-
ments regarding: the statement regarding our belief that we
can transform th.e‘chemicat and petrochemical, pharmaceutical,
electronics, consurmer gobds, and automotive companies by
discovering break-through new materials faster and more cost
effectively than by‘usmg traditional methods; the statement
regarding our ability to transform how our customers perform
research, by providing Discovery Tools, software, and patented
methods that t‘hey‘ can apply to increase their research produc-
tivity; the statement that we continue to expand our capabilities
through the development of new instruments and software and
enhanced versions of existing systems; the statement regarding
our intent to continue to enter into new strategic alliances and
collaborative arrahgements; the statement regarding our expec-
tations that new collaborations will come from existing partners
extending programs and undertaking new research initiatives as
well as from rew bértners; the statement that we have created
a growing pipeline of materials that have emerged from our
discovery ptat‘form:;‘ the statement regarding our expectation

to receive royalties from the sale of sensors, or that we could
become a supplier of sensors; the statement regarding our
belief that our pro‘prietary database will emerge as a powerful
tool in accelerating materials discovery by enabling our scien-
tists to benefit from the cumulative effect of our research; the
statement that we' will realize a revenue backlog in the fiscal
year 2005 and beyond; the statement regarding our intent to
augment the already committed revenue base with new and
extended collaborations, new tools sales, and new intellectual
property and software licenses; the statement regarding our

belief that our future success depends in part upon our contin-
ued ability to hire and retain qualified personnel; the statement
regarding our expectations that ExxonMobil, Dow, and a select
list of other companies will in aggregate continue to account for
a substantial portion of our revenue for the foreseeable future
and the loss of one or more of these customers or collaborative
partners would harm our business and operating results; the
statement regarding our belief that we are well positioned to
capitalize on our investment in the technology, instrumentation
and informatics necessary to pursue high-throughput discovery
of materials; the statement regarding our belief that the drivers
of our near term growth and profitability, including the credibility
and commitment afforded by our alliances, a visible improve-
ment in chemical industry spending levels, the near-term
growth potential of our royalty income stream and the expansion
of our software business, are already in place; the statement
that Dow will make payments to us over the five-year term of
approximately $120 million: the statement regarding our expec-
tations that approximately 40% of this revenue will be service
revenue, 30% product revenue and 30% license revenue; the
statement regarding our expectations to receive royalties from
the sale of polymers produced by Dow beginning in the first
guarter of 2005; the statement regarding our expectations to
receive royalties from the sale of electronic materials containing
polymers produced by JSR Corporation, beginning in the first
quarter 2005; the statement regarding our anticipation of an
effective income tax rate of approximately 40% in 2005; the
statement regarding our anticipation that our headcount will
continue to increase to meet the mix and level staffing required
by the ExxonMobil and Dow alliances and by the expansion of
our business; the statement regarding our expectation that

we will continue to make significant investments in research
and development to enhance our technologies; the statement
regarding our expectation to receive over $200 million in revenue
from ExxonMobil and over $120 million in revenue from Dow
during the 5-year term of each of the alliances; the statement
regarding our belief that revenue from our strategic alliances
will greatly contribute to our expected growth in Industry Collab-
orations revenue in 2005 through 2009; the statement regarding
our belief that expanding our customer base will contribute to
our expected growth of Discovery Tools revenue; the statement
regarding our belief that the demonstrated acceptance of our
high-throughput experimentation technology by our customers
will lead to the expected growth in our license fee revenue in




Symyx Technologies, Inc.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation (continued)

future years; the statement regarding our belief that commer-
cialized materials from Dow, JSR Corporation and Agfa, will
contribute to our growth in Intellectual Property Licensing
revenue in the future; the statement regarding our expectation
to continue to devote substantial resources to research and
development; the statement regarding our expectation that
research and development expenses will continue to increase;
the statement regarding our expectation that our sales, general
and administrative expenses will increase; the statement
regarding our anticipation that our interest income in 2005 will
be slightly greater than 2004 due to the impact of recent interest
rate increases and our positive cash flows from operating and
financing activities will continue to increase our average invest-
ment balance; the statement regarding our anticipation that the
adoption of certain accounting standards will not have a material
impact on our consclidated financial statements; the statement
regarding our expectation that we will continue to generate
positive cash flow from our operating activities in the near
future; the statement regarding our expectation to continue to
make significant investments in the purchase of property and
equipment to support our expanding operations; the statement
regarding our belief that our current cash, available-for-sale
securities balances and the cash flows generated by operations
will be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash needs; the
statement regarding our entry into an agreement to acquire
Synthematix, Inc., which expects to close in early Aprit 2005;
the statement regarding management’s belief that our insurance
protection is reasonable in view of the nature and scope of our
operations; the statement regarding our expectation to retain
future earnings, if any, to support the development of our
business and that we do not anticipate that we will pay any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a
“safe harbor” for such forward-looking statement. In order to
comply with the terms of the safe harbor, we note that a variety
of factors could cause actual results and experience to differ
materially from the anticipated results or ather expectations
expressed in such forward-looking statements. Among the
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially

are the factors detailed under the heading "Risk Factors” of
ltem 1 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and elsewhere in this Annual Report. All

forward-looking statements and risk factors included in this
document are made as of the filing date hereof, based on infor-
mation available to Symyx as of the filing date hereof, and Symyx
assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement
or risk factor. You should also consult the risk factors listed from
time to time in the Company’s Reports on Form 10-Q and other
SEC filings.

All percentage amounts and ratios were calculated using the
underlying data in thousands. Operating results for the year ended
December 31, 2004, are not necessarily indicative of the results
that may be expected for future fiscal years. The following discus-
sion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our historical
financial statements and the notes to those financial statements
that are included on pages 34 to 71 in this Annual Report.

Overview

We have been a public company for five years, and have built
upon our broad technology platform to establish ourselves as

a profitable company with several complementary operating
businesses. Since our initial public offering in 1999, our revenue
has increased at a compounded average annual rate of 22%,
and we have been profitable since the first quarter of 2007.

Since our inception, we have invested heavily in establishing

the technology, instrumentation, and informatics necessary to
pursue high-throughput discovery of materials. These materials
include catalysts to manufacture commodity chemicals and
polyolefins, polymers and phosphars for life science and indus-
trial applications, and specialized materials for electronics
applications. We believe we are now well positioned to capitalize
on this investment. We believe that the drivers of our near term
growth and profitability are already in place, namely:

s the credibility and commitment afforded by our alliances
with ExxonMobil and Dow,

* 3 visible Improvement in chemical industry spending levels,

e the near-term growth potential of our royalty income
stream, and

* the expansion of our software business.




Current Year Developments

Our major achievernents in 2004 and their impact on our
business are highlighted below:

¢ Alliance — In Decernber 2004, we entered into a five-year
strategic alliance agreement with The Dow Chemical
Company to enhance research and development activity
within Dow through high-throughput experimentation
technologies and informatics solutions provided by us.
This alliance agreement enables a company-wide commitment
by Dow to high-throughput research and R&D informatics
solutions. Under the terms of the agreement, we are obligated
to perform research in a number of exclusive areas, develop
and provide Discovery Tools, and license our Renaissance suite
of software as well as certain intellectual property. Dow is
obligated to make payments to us over the five-year term of
approximately $120 million. We expect that approximately 40%
of this revenue will be service revenue, 30% product revenue,
and 30% license revenue. In addition, we are zlso entitled to
receive royalties-on commercialized discoveries resulting from
the collaborative research. This alliance, along with the similar
alliance we entered into with ExxonMabil in 2003, demon-
strates the ability of our technologies to transform our
customers’ R&D and has secured over $300 million revenue
for us to recognize within the term of the agreements,

» Acquisition — In November 2004, we completed the acquisition
of IntelliChem, an Oregon-based leading provider of intelligent
electronic lab notebooks iELN] for customers in the pharma-
ceutical, biotechnology, and chemical industries. This
acquisition not only expanded our software into non-high-
throungut markets but also enhanced our software offering
so that our informatics framework can support each step of
exper_imentatioh.

Material Commercialization — In September 2004, Dow
announced the commencement of commercial production

of VERSIFY Plastomers and Elastomers, a family of products
manufactured using Symyx-discovered catalysts. VERSIFY
polymers are designed to improve optics, sealing performance,
elasticity, Rexibility,'and softness for packaging producers,
manufacturers of thermoplastic elastomers and olefins, and
converters in the consumer products sector. We expect to
receive royalties from the sate of these polymers beginning in
the first quarter of 2005. In December 2004, Tokyo-based JSR
Corporation announced that it had begun commercial sales of

new electronic materials containing polymers made under

a license from us. We expect to earn royalties from the sale
of these products beginning in the first quarter of 2005. As of
December 31, 2004, we had a total of three commercialized
materials.

o CORE[x)™ — We adopted a modular approach to selling
Discavery Tools to facilitate more timely customer purchases.
This modular approach allows customers to build up full combi-
natorial high-throughput experimentation capability over time by
acquiring stand-alone portions of the systems. This approach
showed its potential in 2004 through the delivery of multiple
units of CORE(x) systems to pharmaceutical companies.

In the year ended December 31, 2004, we generated total
revenue of $83.2 million, with operating income of $13.7 million,
net income of $12.9 million and diluted earnings per share of
$0.38. Our earnings were impacted by purchase accounting
adjustments associated with the IntelliChem acquisition and
variability in our effective income tax rate. Included in the 2004
operating income and net income were approximately $2.5
million of purchase accounting adjustments and other special
charges arising from the acquisition of IntelliChem, including
an in-process research and development charge of $2.3 million,
the amortization of intangible assets and other merger related
expenses. For 2004, we had an effective income tax rate of 21%,
compared to 18% in 2003. The 2004 effective rate reflected the
recognition in the fourth quarter of 2004 of over $4.3 million in
benefits from certain of our deferred tax assets, which previously
had been reserved. In 2003, $1.3 million in tax benefits was
recognized. Based on our current forecast for 2005, we antici-
pate an effective income tax rate of approximately 40%.

During 2004, we generated positive cash flow from operations
and ended the year with $136.5 million in cash, cash equivalents
and available-for-sale securities after paying a net $26.9 million
to acquire IntelliChem.

Our total headcount increased from 213 employees at the end of
2002 to 235 employees at the end of 2003 and to 275 employees
at the end of 2004 primarily as the result of IntelliChem acquisi-
tion as well as meeting the mix and level of staffing promised to
ExxonMobil in particular. We anticipate that our headcount will
continue to increase to meet the mix and level of staffing
required by the ExxonMobil and Dow alliances and by the expan-
sion of our business.
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As of December 31, 2004, our retained earnings were approxi-
mately $10.2 million. However, we may return to the state of
accumulated deficits as we continue to expand staffing, equip-
ment, and facilities, and due to the requirement to expense
employee stock options after July 1, 2005.

We expect to continue to make significant investments in
research and development to enhance our technologies,
including for the development of new instruments and software.
In addition, our strategy is to expand our operations and to
continue to build our research and development, business
development, and marketing efforts.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America {"GAAP"). Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual
Report describes the significant accounting policies and
methods used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Preparing financial statements and related disclo-
sures requires management to exercise judgment in making
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts

of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. These estimates
and assumptions are affected by management’s application

of accounting policies. Estimates are used for, but not limited
to, revenue recognition, establishing the warranty expense
accrual, establishing slow-moving, obsolete and excess inventory
reserves, determining when technical feasibility for our software
products has been achieved, and determining the useful life of
intangible assets. The following critical accounting policies,
amang others, are impacted significantly by judgments,
estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

SOURCE OF REVENUE AND REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICY

We recognize revenue in accordance with the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin ["SAB")

No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements, SAB

No. 104, Revenue Recognition, the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants Statement of Pasition ('SOP”] 97-2, Software
Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-9, Modification of
S0P 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, Financial Accounting
Standards Board Technical Bulletin 90-1, Accounting for

Separately Priced Extended Warranty and Product Maintenance
Contracts, and other authoritative accounting literature. We
generate revenue from services provided under research collab-
orations, the sale of products, license of software, provision of
support and maintenance services, and the license of intellec-
tual property. It is possible for our customers to work with us in
multiple areas of our business and contracts may include multi-
ple elements of service revenue, product revenue, and license
revenue. In determining the basis for revenue recognition, we
first determine the fair value of any extended warranty services
and defer this revenue to be recognized over the service period.
Far those contracts that involve multiple element deliverables,
we identify all deliverables and allocate revenue between the
units of accounting in accordance with the Emerging Issues Task
Force consensus on Issue 00-21, or EITF 00-21, Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangements. In an arrangement that
includes software that is more than incidental to the products or
services as a whole, we recognizes revenue from the software
and software-related elements, as well as any non-software
deliverable(s| for which a software deliverable is essential to its
functionality, in accordance with SOP 97-2.

Service revenue consists of research and development funding
received from collaborative partners as well as support and
maintenance or extended warranty agreements. Product
revenue consists of payments from customers for Discovery
Toals systems, comprising hardware, associated software and
intellectual property licenses and consumables. Royalties and
license fees include fees for licensing of our software, intellec-
tual property, proprietary materials and technology license
payments and royalties on laboratory instruments and software
sold under license by third parties.

Service Revenue We recognize revenue from research cotlaboration
agreements, software consulting, and support and maintenance
agreements as earned upon performance of the services specified
in the agreements. Payments received that are related to future
performance are deferred and recognized as revenue as the
performance requirements are fulfilled.

Non-refundable up-frant payments received in connection with
research and development collaboration agreements, including
technology access fees, are deferred and recognized on a
straight-line basis over the relevant periods specified in the
agreement, generally the research term. Revenue from milestone
payments, which are substantially at risk until the milestones are




completed; is recognized upon completion of these milestone
events, Milestone payments to date have been immaterial.

Revenue allocable to support and maintenance is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the period the support and mainte-
nance is provided Our product related software licenses may
provide for technical support, bug fixes and rights to unspecified
upgrades on a when-and-if-available basis for periods defined
within the contract. Revenue related to this post contract
customer support is deferred and recognized over the term of
the contracted support.

Product Sales. We recognize revenue from the sale of Discovery
Tools hardware and the license of associated software, and all
related costs of products sold are expensed, once delivery has
occurred and customer acceptance has been achieved. A
warranty expense accrual is established at the time of customer
acceptance. A détermin‘ation is made for each system delivered
as to whether software is incidental to the system as a whole. If
software is. not inc:idental to the Discovery Tools system as a whole,
revenue from these arrangements is recognized in accordance
with American msjtitute of Certified Public Accountants Statement
of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition ["SOP 97-27], as
amended. If software is incidental to the Discovery Tools system,
revenue from the sale of the Discovery Tools system is earned
and recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, delivery of‘t‘he pro‘duct has occurred, no significant
obligations with regard to implementation remain, the fee is

fixed or determinable, and collectibility is probable. if there are
extended payment terms, we recognize product revenue as
these payments become due. We consider all arrangements
with payment terms extending beyond 12 months not to be fixed
or determinable. If the fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue
is recognized as‘payments become due from the customer. In
multiple element arrangements, we use the residual method to
allocate revenue to delivered elements once it has established
fair value for all undelivered elements.

Software License Fees ‘For software licensed on an annual right
to use basis, revenue is recognized straight line over the term

of the license. For revende allocable to the software portion of a
multiple element arrangement or licensed on a perpetual basis,
we recognize revenue upon delivery of the software product to
the end-user and commencement of the license, unless we have
ongoing obligations for which fair value cannot be established
or the fee is not fixed or determinable or collectibility is not

probable, in which case we recognize revenue only when each of
these criteria has been met. We consider all arrangements with
payment terms longer than twelve months not to be fixed or
determinable. If the fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is
recognized as payments become due from the customer. If
evidence of the fair value of one or more undelivered elements
does not exist, the total revenue is deferred and recognized
when delivery of those elements occurs or when fair value can
be established.

intellectual Property License Fees and Royalties We recognize
license fee revenue for licenses to our intellectual property when
earned under the terms of the agreements. Generally, revenue is
recognized upon transfer of the license unless we have continuing
obligations for which fair value cannot be established, in which
case the revenue is recognized over the period of the obligation.
If there are extended payment terms, we recognize license fee
revenue as these payments become due. We consider all
arrangements with payment terms extending beyond 12 months
not to be fixed or determinable. In certain licensing arrangements
there is provision for a variable fee as well as a non-refundable
minimum amount. In such arrangements, the amount of the
non-refundable minimum guarantee is recognized upon transfer
of the license unless we have continuing obligations for which
fair value cannot be established and the amount of the variable
fee in excess of the guaranteed minimum is recognized as
revenue when it is fixed and determinable.

We recognize royalty revenue based on reported sales by third
party licensees of products containing our materials, software,
and intetlectual property. If there are extended payment terms,
royalty revenues are recognized as these payments become due,
Non-refundable royalties, for which there are no further
perfarmance obligations, are recognized when due under the
terms of the agreements.

See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a
further discussion of our revenue recognition policies.
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WARRANTY EXPENSE ACCRUAL

A warranty expense accrual is established at the time of customer
acceptance of a Discovery Tool system and is included as a cost of
product sold. Management is required to exercise judgment in
establishing the appropriate level of warranty expense accrual for
each Discovery Tool system delivered and establishes the accrual
based, in part, on reference to actual warranty costs incurred on
similar systems. The actual results with regard to warranty
expenditures could have a material impact on our financial state-
ments. When actual warranty costs are anticipated to be higher
than our ariginal estimates, an additional expense is charged to
cost of products sold in the period in which such a determination
is made. When actual warranty costs are lower than our original
estimates, the difference will have a favorable impact to cost of
products sold at the time the warranty expires for the systems.
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, we have
recorded a favorable adjustment of approximately $1.0 million,
$0.3 million, and $0, respectively.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

We account for research and development costs in accordance
with several accounting pronouncements, including SFAS 2,
Accounting for Research and Development Costs, and SFAS 86,
Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased,
or Otherwise Marketed. SFAS 86 specifies that costs incurred
internally in creating a computer software product should be
charged to expense when incurred as research and development
until technological feasibility has been established for the product.
Once technological feasibility is established, all software costs
should be capitalized until the product is available for general
release to customers. Judgment is required in determining when
the technological feasibility of a product is established. We have
determined that technological feasibility for our software products
is reached shortly before the products are released to manufactur-
ing. Costs incurred after technological feasibility is established
are not material, and accordingly, no amounts are capitalized.

We expense all research and development costs when incurred.

INVENTORIES

We carry our inventories at the lower of cost or market, cost
being determined on a specific identification basis. We apply
judgment in determining the provisions for slow-moving, excess
and obsolete inventories based on historical experience and
anticipated product demand.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

We amortize intangible assets over their estimated economic
lives. Determining the estimated economic life of intangible
assets reguires judgment on the part of management.

For example, if we determined that the estimated economic
lives of these assets were one year less than those reported in
Note 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
the amortization expense of intangibles for 2004 would have
been increased by $107,000. We will conduct impairment reviews
of intangible assets annually or when circumstances indicate

the impairment of intangible assets. We will also review the
estimated economic life of intangible assets when circumstances
indicate the change of economic life of intangible assets.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTIONS

We generally grant stock options to our employees for a

fixed number of shares with an exercise price equal to the

fair value of the shares on the date of grant. As allowed

under the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, ["SFAS 123"), we have
elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees ("APB 257, and related
interpretations in accounting for stock awards to employees.
Accordingly, no compensation expense is recognized in our
financial statements in connection with stock options granted to
employees with exercise prices not less than fair value. Deferred
compensation for options granted to employees is determined
as the difference between the deemed fair market value of the
Company’s common stock on the date options were granted

and the exercise price. Had we elected to expense stock options
based on their fair value in accordance with SFAS 123, we would
have reported a loss of approximately $135,000. $9.4 miltion, and
$16.8 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003, and 2002.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On November 30, 2004, we acquired 100% of the outstanding
capital stock of IntelliChem, a provider of intelligent electronic
lab notebooks (IELN] for customers in the pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, and chemical industries. The results of
IntelliChem’s operations have been included in the consolidated
financial statements since that date.

IntelliChem offers iIELN software as well as consulting,
education, and support services. In considering the merger,




we determined that the merger would provide us with a product
for integrating and unifying chemical research and development
data, enabling improvements in the efficiency of research in the
pharmaceutical and chemical industries. The integratian of
IntelliChem’s iIELN solutions and our suite of Renaissance
software provides the basis for a unified set of tools for
high-throughput-and conventional research. The resulting
integrated suite of applications will allow companies to replace
paper laboratory notebooks with an electronic, searchable system.
It will also provide scientists with & robust, broad, and easy-to-use
set of time-saving:and enabling tools for planning and executing
experiments, and provide the entire enterprise with real-time
collaborative decision-support and analysis capabilities to help
scientists, engineers and project managers make better decisions.
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 141, Business Combinations, we allocated the purchase price
to the tangible assets, deferred compensation, liabilities, and
intangible assets acquired, as well as in-process research and
development, based on their estimated fair values. The excess
purchase price over the fair values was recorded as goodwill.

The fair value assigned to intangible assets acquired was based
on estimates and assumptions determined by management.

The acquired goodwill was assigned entirely to our software
segment. Purchased intangibles with finite lives are amortized

on a straight-line basis over their respective useful lives,

The tatal purchase price for this acquisition was $30.6 million,
consisting of approximately $29.3 million in cash, $1.0 million in
fair value of assumed stock options to purchase 44,126 shares of
our common stock, and $0.3 million in transaction costs, consist-
ing of legal and other professional service fees. The intrinsic
value of these options, totating‘approximatety $0.7 million, has
been recorded-as deferred stock compensation.

The purchase price allocation is as follows [in thousands]:

Amount

Fair value of net assets purchased $ 4476
In-process research and development 2,260
Trade name 860
Developed technology 8,370
Customer relationships 4,700
Unearned stock compensation 651
Deferred tax liabilities [4,151])
Release of valuation allowance against acquirer’s

deferred income tax assets upon recognition

of deferred income tax liabilities on acquired

identifiable intangible assets in connection

with acquisition of IntelliChem 4,151
Goodwill 9,283
Total $30,600
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The allocation of the consideration for the acquisition of
IntelliChem to its individual assets and liabilities was based on
management’s analysis and estimates of the fair values of the
acquired assets and liabilities. In addition to the value assigned
to in-process research and development ["IPR&D"] projects, and
IntelliChem’s tangible assets, specific intangible assets were
identified and valued. The identifiable intangible assets included
customer relationships, a trade name, and developed technology.

The IPR&D project that IntelliChem has been working on was
the development of next generation of IntelliChem software.
That software has not yet been proven to be technologically
feasible but has been developed to a point where it had value
associated with potential future revenue. Because technological
feasibility was not yet proven and no alternative future uses were
believed to exist for the in-process technologies, the assigned
value was expensed immediately upon the closing date of the
acquisition, in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 4,
Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business Combinations
Accounted for by the Purchase Method.

The value of IPR&D was determined by estimating the expected
cash flows from the projects once commercially viable, discount-
ing the net cash flows back to their present value and then
applying a percentage of completion to the calculated value as
defined below. A discount rate of 28% was used which is higher
than tntelliChem’s computed weighted average cost of capital of
20% due to inherent risk surrounding the successful develop-
ment of the IPR&D and the increase in projected financial
results compared with historical results.

In performing this purchase price allocation, we considered,
among other factors, our intention for future use of the acquired
assets, analysis of historical financial performance and
estimates of future performance of InteltiChem’s products. The

fair value of intangible assets was primarily based on the income
approach. The relief from royalty approach was also utilized
when appropriate. The rates utilized to discount the net cash
flows to their present values ranged from 24% to 28%. These
discount rates were determined after consideration of our rate
of return and the weighted average return on assets. Risks we
identified and considered in this analysis included achieving
anticipated levels of market acceptance and penetration,
successful completion of development efforts, market growth
rates, and risks related to the impact of potential changes in
future target markets. At December 31, 2004, identifiable intan-
gible assets purchased in the IntelliChem acquisition consisted
of the following [in thousands, except for useful life) with a
weighted average useful life of 5.2 years — no significant
residual value is estimated for these assets:

Amount  Useful Life
Trade name $ 860 4.5 years
Developed techriology 8,370 4.5 years
Customer relationships 4,700 6.5 years

Balance at December 31, 2004, at cost $13,930




Results of Ope‘l"jations

Comparison of Years Ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003

REVENUE

Our total revenue in 2004 was $83.2 million, an increase of 32%
from $63.0 million in 2003. This increase was attributable to
expansion in all ’aépects of our business, especially the sale

of our Discovery. Tools systems. Our service revenue increased
9% from $38.7 million in 2003 to $42.3 million in 2004 fincluding
$1.2 million and $1.7 milLion from a related party in 2004 and
2003, respectively). Our product sales increased 87% from
$14.5 million in 2003 t0'$27.1 million in 2004. Our revenue

from license fees and royalties increased 41% from $9.8 million
in 2003 to $13.9 million in 2004 {including $150,000 from a
related party in 2004} due to the expansion of our customer
base in licensing of materials, software and technology, in
particular ExxonMobil.

In the year ended December 31, 2004, we sold 13 Discovery Tools
systems compared with 6 in 2003. The number of systems sold

included both complex workflows as well as our CORE(x) modules.

ExxonMobil, Merck, and an undisclosed partner accounted for
54%, 4%, and 3%, respectively, of revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2004. ExxonMobil, Merck, and an undisclosed
partner accounted for 35%, 13%, and 11%, respectively, of total
revenue for the same period in 2003.

We segregate revenue by the following segments {in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003
Industry Collaborations $ 40,958 $ 36,125
Industry Collaborations — Related Party 1,173 $1.671
Discovery Tools 28,576 18,861
Intellectual Property Licensing 4,191 3,887
Sensars 1,472 1,191
Software 6,665 1,228
Software — Related Party 150 -
Total $ 83,185 $ 62,963

The reconciliation of segment revenue above to the revenue
disclosed in the Consolidated Income Statements is provided
in Note 6 "Segment Disclosure™ of Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Industry Coltaborations Revenue The Industry Collaborations
group generates revenue primarily from the research services it
provides to our collaboration partners.

Industry Collaborations revenue increased 13% from $36.1
million in 2003 to $471.0 million in 2004. The increase in industry
collaboration revenue in 2004 was primarily attributable to the
funding received under the alliance agreement we entered into
with ExxonMobil effective April 2003. The increase in Industry
Collaboration revenue from ExxonMobil was partially offset

by a decrease in the level of funding received from an undis-
closed partner.

We expect to receive over $200 million in revenue from
ExxonMobil and over $120 million in revenue from Dow during
the S-year term of each of the alliances, through our research
collaborations, Discovery Tools, and license of software and
intellectual property. As of December 31, 2004, we have recog-
nized approximately $59.6 million from ExxonMobil alliance,
including approximately $37.3 million in Industry Collaborations
revenue. We believe these two alliances will greatly contribute to
our expected growth in Industry Collaborations revenue in 2005
through 2009.
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Industry Collaborations Revenue — Related Party Under an
18-month Collaborative Research and License Agreement
entered in May 2003, llypsa, Inc., a related party [See Note 8
“Related Party Transactions” of Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.), paid us research funding in consideration
for direct costs incurred by us specifically attributable to, or
specifically used in furtherance of, the research program.
Research funding payments were due to us at the start of each
month, with an adjustment at the end of each month for the
difference hetween forecast and actual costs incurred. Revenue
resulting from work performed under this Agreement during
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 amounted to
$1.2 million and $1.7 million, respectively, and has been
classified as related party revenue.

Discovery Tools Revenue The Discovery Tools group generates
revenue primarily from the sale of Discovery Tools and associated
software and intellectual property.

Discovery Tools revenue increased 52% from $18.9 mitlion in 2003
to $28.6 million in 2004, For the vear ended December 31, 2004,
Discovery Tools revenue included $25.7 million of product sales,
$2.8 million of service revenue, and $31,000 of license revenue.
For the year ended December 31, 2003, Discovery Tools revenue
included $14.5 million of product sales and $4.4 million of

service revenue. The increase in Discovery Tools revenue in 2004
was primarily due to increased shipments of Discovery Tools
systems in 2004. During year 2004, we shipped 13 Discovery Tools
systems, including our CORE[x] modules, to chemical, pharma-
ceutical, academic institution, and several other customers. We
adopted our modular strategy to facilitate more timely customer
purchases whereas purchase decision an a complete Discovery
Tools system usually takes a long time to make. This modular
approach allows our customers to build up full combinatorial
high-throughput experimentation capability over time by acquiring
stand-alone portions of the Discovery Tools systems. In 2004 we
successfully sold several less expensive modules of our Discovery
Tools systems to pharmaceutical companies.

Under the ExxonMobil and Dow alliances, we are contracted to
deliver multiple Discovery Tools systems in the next few years.
We also negotiate with other chemical and pharmaceutical
companies for the sale of Discovery Tools systems. We believe
our expanding customer base will contribute to our expected
growth of Discovery Tools revenue.

Intellectual Property Licensing Revenue The Intellectual
Property Licensing group generates revenue primarily from

the licensing fees received from licensing of our intetlectual
property and from royalties paid by third party licensees for sale
of products containing our materials and intellectual property.

intellectual Property Licensing revenue increased 8% from $3.9
million in 2003 to $4.2 million in 2004. The increase in licensing
revenue in 2004 was primarily due to payments received from
ExxonMobil and UOP. We believe that the demonstrated accept-
ance of our high-throughput experimentation technology by our
custormers will lead to the expected growth in our license fee
revenue in future years.

In September 2004, Dow announced the commencement of
commercial production of the VERSIFY Plastomers and
Elastomers, a family of products manufactured using Symyx-
discovered catalysts. VERSIFY polymers are designed to improve
optics, sealing performance, elasticity, flexibility, and softness
for packaging producers, manufacturers of thermoplastic
elastomers and olefins, and converters in the consumer
products sector. We expect to receive royalties from the sale of
these polymers beginning in the first quarter of 2005. In
December 2004, JSR Corporation announced the commence-
ment of commercial sales of new electronic materials containing
polymers made under a license from us. We expect to earn
royalties from the sale of these products beginning in the first
quarter of 2005, We believe that these two commercialized
materials, along with the one commercialized by Agfa in 2003,
will contribute to our growth in Intellectual Property Licensing
revenue in the future.




Software Revenue The Software group generates revenue
primarily from the licensing of Renaissance and electronic
laboratory notebook [iIELN) software and provision of associated
support, mainterance and consulting services.

Software revenue increased 455% from $1.2 million in 2003 to
$6.8 million in 2004. The increase in Software revenue in 2004
was primarily due to the increased revenue from ExxonMobil and
Pfizer for software licenses, and associated maintenance and
support. During 2004, we also initiated a couple of pilot
programs for stand-alone software licensing with chemical and
pharmaceutical companies.

Sensors Revenue The Sensors group offers development
services and licenses far specific applications to our sensor
technology. Qur sensors revenue in both 2004 and 2003
consisted primarily of payments received from Hella KG.

COST OF PRODUCTS SOLD

Cost of products saold was $7.9 million, or 29% of product‘sales
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to
$2.9 million, or 20% of product sales revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2003. The increase in the cost of products sold
was due to the increase of product sold. The increase in cost of
products sold as a percéntage of product revenue in 2004 was
due to a change in the product mix shipped in the respective
years, the development costs related to prototypes delivered
being expensed as discussed below, and a favorable adjustment
of warranty reserve of approximately $1.0 million

The cost of products sold will be driven by the variability of
product mix and sales volume in each period. The cost of products
sold as a percentage of product sales is expected to fluctuate
from period to period because the majority of our Discovery Tools
systems are built to order.or to particular specifications. For
systems that include a significant development component prior
to their commercial build, or systems delivered to customers as a
prototype, the development costs incurred prior to the commercial
build are expensed as development costs, which results in a lower
cost of products sold and higher margin in the quarter in which
such a system is delivered to the customer.

The cost of products sold will also be affected by the adjustment
of warranty reserve for the pre-existing sales. When actual
warranty costs are lower than our estimates, the difference will

have a favorable impact to cost of products sold at the time the
warranty expires for the systems. When actual warranty costs
are anticipated to be higher than our original estimates, an
additional expense is charged to cost of products sold in the
period in which such a determination is made.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of
salaries and other personnel-related expenses, facility costs,
supplies, and depreciation of facilities and laboratory equipment.

The table below indicates the major collaborative partners,
defined as those contributing greater than 10% of collaborative
research revenue in 2004, for whom we conducted research and
development, together with the date upon which the current
contract ends and the primary focus of the collaborations.
Contracts may only be extended by mutual agreement between
us and the collaborative partner.

Current Research Primary focus of current

Partner Contract Ends collaborative efforts

BP 12/31/2005 Catalysts for certain
commodity chemicals

ExxonMobil 5/31/2008 Catalysts for certain

commodity chemicals
including olefins

We do not track fully burdened research and development costs or
capital expenditures by project. However, we estimate based on
Full Time Equivalent ["FTE") effort. Approximately 81% of research
and development effort in 2004 was undertaken for collaborative
projects funded by our partners, and approximately 19% of
research effort was on internally funded research including devel-
opment costs related to our Discovery Tools business. This
compares with approximately 65% of research and development
effort undertaken for collaborative projects funded by our
partners, and approximately 35% of research effort on internally
funded research including development costs related to our
Discovery Tools business during 2003. Because of the technical
headcount committed to the ExxonMabil alliance, we significantly
reduced the FTE effort for internally funded research projects.
Due to the nature of our research and our dependence on our
collaborative partners to commercialize the results of the
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research, we cannot predict with any certainty whether any partic-
ular collaboration or research effort witl ultimately result in a
commercial product and therefore whether we will achieve future
milestones or royalty pavments under our various collaborations.

Research and development expenses in 2004 were $41.1 million,
including $1.2 million of direct costs of research services
provided to a related party, compared with $40.1 million in 2003,
including $1.7 million to a related party, an increase of $1.1
million or 3%. The increase in 2004 was due primarily to
increases in salary related expenses due to the hiring of
additional scientific and technical staff to work on research and
development projects for ExxonMobil and increased headcount
to develop our software platform, partially offset by the decrease
in direct costs of research services provided to a related party.

Research and development expenses represented 49% of total
revenue in 2004 and 64% of total revenue in 2003. Research and
development expenses as a percentage of total revenue
decreased because the increase in research and development
expenses lagged the significant increase in total revenue. Qur
core businesses are research to discover new materials, the sale
of instruments and licensing of related software and licensing of
intellectual property and materials discovered in our collabora-
tive and internal research programs. Accordingly, we expect to
continue to devote substantial resources to research and devel-
opment, and we expect that research and development expenses
will continue to increase in absolute dollars.

SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our sales, general and administrative expenses consist primarily
of personnel costs for business develapment, legal, general
management, finance, and human resources, as well as
payments of commissions to our sales agents and professional
expenses, such as legal and accounting. Sales, general and
administrative expenses in 2004 were $18.2 mitlion, compared
with $14.9 million in 2003, an increase of $3.3 million or 22%.
The increase in 2004 was primarily due to an increase of person-
nel costs of approximately $2.9 million, mainly as a result of
adding a number of business development staff to manage and
support our growth, and an increase in auditing and tax related
service fees of approximately $0.6 million, largely as a result of
the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, offset partially by
the decrease in legal fees for intellectual property litigation.

Sales, general and administrative expenses represented 22%
of total revenue in 2004 and 24% of total revenue in 2003. We
expect that our sales, general and administrative expenses will
increase In absolute dollar amounts as we:

* have expanded our business development and sales staff with
the acquisition of IntelliChem and may continue ta expand our
personnel as a result of future acquisitions;

e continue to add to and improve our existing laboratory and
engineering facilities; and

 incur escalating costs related to being a public company, such
as increasing professional fees.

ACQUIRED IN-PROCESS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In November 2004, we acguired IntelliChem in a transaction
accounted for as a purchase. The purchase price was allocated
to the assets acquired, inctuding intangible assets, based on
their estimated fair values. The intangible assets include approx-
imately $2.3 million for acquired in-process technology for
projects that did not have future alternative uses. The value of
the purchased in-process technology was determined using the
income approach. At the date of the IntelliChem acguisition, the
development of these projects had not yet reached technological
feasibility, and the technology in process had no alternative
future uses. Accordingly, these costs were expensed in 2004. See
more discussion on acquired in-process research and develop-
ment under "Business Combination.”
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INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE], NET

Interest and other income {expensel, net, for the year ended
December 31, 2004 consisted of interest income of approxi-
mately $2.4 million and a $155,000 gain from the sale of fixed
assets to a related party. Interest and other income [expense),
net, for the year ended December 31, 2003 consisted primarily of
interest income of approximately $2.0 million. Interest income
represents interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents
and available-for-sale securities. Interest income increased in
2004 due to the impact of higher average interest rates and a
higher average investment balance in 2004. We anticipate that
our interest income in 2005 will be slightly greater than in 2004
due to the impact of recent interest rate increases and as our
positive cash flows from operating and financing activities
continue to increase our average investment balance.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

We recorded an income tax expense of $3.3 million in 2004 and
$1.3 million in 2003. Our effective income tax rate was 20.5% for
fiscal year 2004 and 18.3% for fiscal year 2003. The effective
income tax rate was lower than our statutory rate in both 2004 and
2003 due to the recognition of approximately $4.3 million and $1.3
million, respectively, of incormne tax benefits from certain of our
deferred tax assets in 2004 and 2003, which had previously been
reserved. By weighing all available evidence, we believe that it was
more likely than not that we would be able to realize the benefit of
all remaining significant deferred tax assets at December 31, 2004.

As of December 31, 2004, we had net deferred tax assets of
approximately $4.9 million. Our net deferred tax assets primarily
relate to federal and state research and development credits

and the temporary difference between book and tax deprecistion
expenses, partially offset by deferred tax liabilities recognized for
intangible assets in the IntelliChem acquisition. As of December
31, 2004, we had federal and Oregon net operating loss carryfor-
wards of approximately $2.3 million and $4.8 million, respectively.
The net operating losses arose from the acquisition of IntelliChem
and may be subjett to an annual limitation due to the ownership
change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual
timitation may result in the expiration of net operating losses
and credits before utilization. The net operating loss carry
forwards will 'start to expire in 2020, if not utilized.

As of December 31, 2004, we had federal and state research
and development tax credits of approximately $1.3 million and
$1.8 mitlion, respectively. The federal research and development
tax credit will begin to expire in 2011, while the state research
and development credits have no expiration date.

Comparison of Years Ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002

REVENUE

Our total revenue in 2003 was $63.0 million, a decrease of 3%
from $64.8 million in 2002. This decrease was primarily due to
the decrease in our product revenue caused by lower sales of
Discovery Tools systems. Our service revenue increased 9% from
$35.4 million in 2002 to $38.7 million in 2003 lincluding $1.7
million from a related party in 2003]. Our revenue from license
fees and royalties increased 177% from $3.5 million in 2002 to
$9.8 million in 2003 due to the expansion of our customer base
in licensing of materials, software, and technology, in particular
ExxonMabil.

Dow, Eli Lilly, ExxonMobil, Merck, and an undisclosed partner
accounted for 7%, 0%, 35%, 13%, and 11%, respectively, of total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003. Dow, Eli Lilly,
ExxonMobil, Merck, and an undisclosed partner accounted for
13%, 16%, 19%, 9%, and 10%, respectively, of revenue for the
same period in 2002,

We segregate revenue by the following segments [in thousands]:

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002

Industry Colleborations $ 36,125 $ 28,889
Industry Collaborations — Related Party 1,671 —
Discovery Tools 18,861 31,856
Intellectual Property Licensing 3,887 3.311
Sensors 1191 -
Software 1,228 765
Software — Related Party — -
Total $ 62,963 $ 64,821
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The reconciliation of segment revenue above to the revenue
disclosed in the Consoclidated Income Statements is provided
in Note 6 "Segment Disclosure” of Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Industry Collaborations Revenue Industry Collaborations
revenue increased from $28.9 million in 2002 to $36.1 million
in 2003. The increase in Industry Collaborations revenue in
2003 was primarily attributable to the funding received under
the new alliance agreement we entered inta with ExxonMobil
effective April 2003. The increase in tndustry Collaborations
revenue from ExxonMobil was partially offset by a decrease
in the level of funding received from Celanese.

Industry Collaborations Revenue — Related Party Revenue
resulting from work performed under the Ilypsa Research
Agreement during the year ended December 31, 2003 amounted
to $1.7 million, and has been classified as retated party revenue.

Discovery Tools Revenue Discovery Tools revenue decreased
from $31.9 million in 2002 to $18.9 million in 2003. The decrease
in Discovery Tools revenue in 2003 was primarily due to a lower
sales volume of our larger Discovery Tools Systems. We delivered
Polymorph Discovery Tools systems which generated approximately
$9.9 million of revenue in 2002, and none of these same systems
were delivered in 2003.

During year 2003, we shipped Discovery Tools systems to Merck,
North Dakota State University, Battelle Memorial Institute and
several other customers. Discovery Tools revenue included $14.5
mitlion of product sales and $4.4 million of service revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2003 and $25.6 million of product sales
and $6.2 million of service revenue for the year ended December
31, 2002. Service revenue in 2002 was higher than 2003 as we
received approximately $3.4 million of funding towards the devel-
apment of two new Discovery Tool platforms in 2002

Intellectual Property Licensing Revenue intellectual Property
Licensing revenue increased 17% from $3.3 million in 2002 to
$3.9 million in 2003. The increase in licensing revenue in 2003
was primarily due to payments received from ExxonMohil.

In the final quarter of 2003, we received our first royalty
payments from Agfa for the sale of our commercialized material.

Sensors Revenue We started receiving license fees from the
licensing of our sensor technology to Hella KG in 2003.

Software Revenue Software revenue increased from $0.8 million
in 2002 to $1.2 million in 2003. The increase was primarily due
to the increase in license fees received from ExxanMobil.

COST OF PROBUCTS SOLD

Cost of products sotd was $2.9 million, ar 20% of product sales
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to
$6.2 million, or 24% of product sales revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2002. The decrease in the cost of products sold
was due to the change in the product mix shipped in the respec-
tive years.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of
salaries and other personnel-related expenses, facility costs,
supplies, and depreciation of facilities and laboratory equipment.

Approximately 65% of research and development effort in 2003
was undertaken for collaborative projects funded by our
partners, and approximately 35% of research effort was on inter-
nally funded research including development costs related to our
Discovery Tools business. This compares with approximately
63% of research and development effort undertaken for collabo-
rative projects funded by our partners, and approximately 37% of
research effort on internally funded research including develop-
ment costs related to our Discovery Tools business during 2002.

Research and development expenses in 2003 were $40.1 million,
including $1.7 million of direct costs of research services provided
to a related party, compared with $39.3 million in 2002, an
increase of $0.8 million or 2%. The increase in 2003 was due
primarily to increases in salary related expenses due to the hiring
of additional scientific and technical staff to work on research and
development projects for ExxonMobil and our related party, llypsa.

Research and development expenses represented 64% of total
revenues in 2003 and 61% of total revenues in 2002.




SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our sales, general and administrative expenses consist primarily
of personnel costs for business development, legal, general
management, finance, and human resources, as well as
payments of commissions to our sales agents and professional
expenses, such as'legal and accounting. Sales, general and
administrative expenses in 2003 were $14.9 million, compared
with $14.6 million in 2002, an increase of $0.3 million or 2%.

The increase was primarily due to the addition of a number

of business devélopment staff and their associated costs to
manage and support our growth.

Sales, general and administrative expenses represented 24%
of total revenues in 2003.and 23% of total revenues in 2002.

NET INTEREST INCOME'

Net interest income represents interest income earned on our
cash, cash equivalent and available-for-sale securities. Interest
income was $2.0 million in 2003, compared with $3.3 million in
2002. This decrease was due to lower interest rates in 2003.
Interest expense wes nil in 2003, compared with $9,000 in 2002.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

We recorded an income tax expense of $1.3 million in 2003 and
$2.7 million in 2002. Qur effective income tax rate was 18.3% for
fiscal year 2003 and 33.5% for fiscal year 2002. The decrease in
our effective income tax rate in 2003 was due to the fact that we
recognized approximately $1.3 million of income tax benefits
from certain of our deferred tax assets in 2003, which had previ-
ously been reserved.

As of December 31, 2003, we had net deferred tax assets of
approximately $7.4 million. Our net deferred tax assets primarily
related to revenue that had been recognized for income tax
purposes but deferred for financial reporting purposes together
with reserves and accruals that had been recognized for financial
reporting purposes but not for income tax purposes, partially
offset by accelerated income tax deductions for insurance and
property tax. At December 31, 2003, we had federal net operating
loss carryforvvardé of approximately $3.2 million, the majority of
which were attribptabte to stock option deductions and whose
benefit, if realized, would be recagnized directly to equity.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board ("FASB") issued FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004},
Share-Based Payment, ['SFAS 123(R]"), which is a revision of
FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation. SFAS 123(R) supersedes APB Opinian No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, ["/APB 257], and amends
FASB SFAS 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Generally, the approach
in SFAS 123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS 123.
However, SFAS 123(R] requires all share-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be
recognized in the income statement based on their fair values.
Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative.

We must adopt SFAS 123{R} no later than July 1, 2005.

SFAS 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its requirements
using one of two methods:

1. A "modifted prospective” method in which compensation cost
is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based on the
requirements of SFAS 123(R] for all share-based payments
granted after the effective date and (b] based on the require-
ments of SFAS 123 for all awards granted to employees prior
to the effective date of Statement 123(R] that remain unvested
on the effective date.

2. A "modified retrospective” method which includes the require-
ments of the modified prospective method described above,
but also permits entities to restate based on the amounts
previously recognized under SFAS 123 for purposes of pro
forma disclosures either {a] all prior periods presented or [b)
prior interim periods of the year of adoption.

We expect to adopt Statement 123(R] using the modified-
prospective method.

As permitted by SFAS 123, we currently account for share-based
payments to employees using APB 25's intrinsic value method and,
as such, generally recognize no compensation cost for employee
stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS 123(R}'s fair value
method will have a significant impact on our results of operations,
although it will have no impact on our overall financial position. The
impact of adoption of SFAS 123(R} cannot be predicted at this time
because it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted
in the future. However, had we adopted SFAS 123(R) in prior
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periods, the impact of that standard would have approximated the
impact of SFAS 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net
income {loss] and earnings per share in Note 1 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements ["Stock Based Compensation”).
SFAS 123(R] also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess
of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash
flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under
current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash
flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after
adoption. We are currently evaluating the impact on our financial
statements upon the adoption of SFAS 123(R].

THE MEANING OF OTHER-THAN-TEMPORARY IMPAIRMENT AND
ITS APPLICATION TO CERTAIN INVESTMENTS

In March 2004, the FASB ratified the recognition and measure-
ment guidance and certain disclosure requirements for impaired
securities as described in Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF]
Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Tempoerary Impairment
and its Application to Certain Investments. EITF Issue No. (03-1
provides new guidance for determining and recording impair-
ment for both debt and equity securities. it also requires
additional disclosure for declines in investments that are
deemed to be temporary under the standard. In September
2004, the FASB approved the issuance of a FASB Staff Position
to delay certain measurement and recognition guidance
contained in EITF Issue No. 03-1. We will evaluate the effect, if
any, of EITF Issue No. 03-1, when final guidance Is released.
Disclosures required under EITF Issue No. 03-1 are included in
Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Whether an Investor Should Apply the Equity Method of
Accounting to Investments Other Than Common Stock

In July 2004, the FASB ratified Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) consensus on Issue No. 02-14, Whether an investor Should
Apply the Equity Method of Accounting to Investments Other Than
Common Stock, which provides guidance regarding application of
the equity methad of accounting to investments other than
common stack. EITF Issue No. 02-14 applies to reporting
periods beginning after September 15, 2004. The adoption of
EITF Issue No. 02-14 did not have a material impact on our
financial statements.

INVENTORY COSTS

In November 2004, the FASE issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory
Costs — an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4 ["SFAS 1517,
SFAS 151 amends ARB 43, Chapter 4 to clarify that "abnormal”
amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and
spoilage should be recognized as current period charges. SFAS
151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2005. We do not anticipate that the
adoption of this standard will have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

EXCHANGES OF NONMONETARY ASSETS

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of
Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB No. 29 ("SFAS 153").
SFAS 153 amends ARB 29 to eliminate the exception for
nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and
replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmone-
tary assets that do not have commercial substance. SFAS 153 is
effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal
periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We do not anticipate that
the adoption of this standard will have a material impact an our
financial statements,

ACCOUNTING FOR PREEXISTING RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE
PARTIES TO A BUSINESS COMBINATION

In October 2004, the FASB ratified Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF] consensus on Issue No. 04-1, Accounting for Pre-Existing
Relationship between the Parties to a Business Combination, which
provides guidance regarding separate accounting when two
parties that have a pre-existing contractual relationship enter
into a business combination. EITF Issue No. 04-01 applies to
reporting periods beginning after October 13, 2004. The adoption
of EITF Issue No. 04-1 is not expected to have a material impact
on our financial statements.

APPLICATION OF FASB STATEMENT NO. 109, ACCOUNTING FOR
INCOME TAXES, TO THE TAX DEDUCTION ON QUALIFIED
PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES PROVIDED BY THE AMERICAN JOBS
CREATION ACT OF 2004

On December 21, 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position
109-1 ("FAS FSP 109-17], Application of FASB Statement No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified
Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004, which provides guidance on the application of FASB




Statement 109, Accounting for income Taxes, to the provision
within the American Job Creation Act of 2004 that provides a tax
deduction on qualified production activities. FAS FSP 109-1
applies to reporting périods beginning after December 21, 2004.
The adoption of FAS FSP 109-1 is not expected to have a
material impact on our financial statements.

THE EFFECT OF CONTINGENTLY CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS ON
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

In October 2004, the FASB ratified Emerging Issues Task Force
[EITF] consensus on Issue No. 04-8, The Effect of Contingently
Convertible Instruments on Diluted Earnings per Share, which
provides guidance regarding when contingently convertible
instruments should be included in diluted earnings per share.
EITF Issue No. 04-8 applies to reporting periods ending after
December 15, 2004. The adoption of EITF Issue No. 04-8 did not
have a material impact on our financial statements.

DETERMINING WHETHER TO AGGREGATE OPERATING SEGMENTS
THAT DO NOT MEET THE QUANTITATIVE THRESHOLDS

In October 2004, the FASB ratified Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) consensus on Issue No. 04-10, Determining Whether to
Aggregate Operating Segments That Do Not Meet the Quantitative
Thresholds, which provides guidance regarding how an enter-
prise should evaluate the aggregation criteria in paragraph 17 of
FASB Statement 131 when determining whether operating
segments that do not meet the quantitative thresholds may be
aggregated in accordance with paragraph 19 of FASB Statement
131. The effective date of EITF Issue No. 04-10 has not been
determined but early application is permitted. The adoption of
EITF issue No, 04-10 is not expected to have a material impact
on our financial statements.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

This section discusses the effects of the changes in our balance
sheets, cash flows; and commitments on our liquidity and
capital resources.

BALANCE SHEET AND CASH FLOWS

We had positive cash flow from operating activities for the year
ended December 31, 2004 and finished the year with cash, cash
equivalents and available-for-sale securities of approximately
$136.5 million, after paying a net $26.9 million in the acquisition
of IntelliChem. This compared to cash, cash equivalent and
available-for-sale securities of approximately $138.7 million at
December 31, 2003.

As of December 31, 2004, we had no long-term liabilities.

Our operating activities provided $22.9 mitlion, $27.2 million, and
$9.7 million of cash in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. The
sources of cash for the three years were primarily the receipt of
research and development funding from collaborative partners
and revenue from product sales and licensing, partially offset by
operating expenses. We expect that we will continue to generate
positive cash flow from our operating activities in the near future.

Net cash used in investing activities was $32.7 million, $43.1
million, and $1.6 million, respectively, in 2004, 2003, and 2002.
Included in the 2004 cash used in investing activities was the
$26.9 million net cash paid associated with the acquisition of
IntelliChem. The other fluctuations from pericd to period were
due primarily to the timing of purchases, sales, and maturity of
our available-for-sale securities. Cash used in purchases of
property, plant and equipment was $4.5 million, $9.7 million,
and $4.5 million, respectively, in 2004, 2003, and 2002. Included
in the 2003 cash used in purchase of property, plant and equip-
ment was $3.9 million paid for an office building. We expect to
continue to make significant investments in the purchase of
property and equipment to support our expanding operations.

Financing activities provided cash of $12.1 million, $7.4 million,
and $2.0 million in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. These
amounts are primarily the proceeds from the exercise of stock
options and sale of stock under the Employee Share Purchase
Plan in each of the three years. The increase from 2002 to 2003
and to 2004 is due primarily to the fact that employees maore
actively exercised stock options as our stock price increased in
2003 and 2004,

Current liabilities decreased by approximately $2.1 million at
December 31, 2004 as compared to December 31, 2003. A
decrease of $4.2 million in deferred revenue from 2003 to 2004
was largely offset by an increase in accounts payable and other
accrued liabilities and an increase in accrued compensation and
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employee benefits. The decrease of deferred revenue was attrib-
utable largely to the delivery of Discovery Tools systems in 2004,
for which advanced depesits were made in 2003.

BACKLOG

As of December 31, 2004, our customers have contractually
committed to funding of approximately $83 million and $226
million, respectively, for year 2005 and beyond, for the purchase
of Discovery Tools systems, licenses to our intellectual property
and software, royalty for the sale of products containing Symyx-
discovered materials and for research collaborations.

COMMITMENTS

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, our principal commitments
were $11.3 million and $17.8 miltion, respectively. Principal
commitments consisted of our obligations under operating
leases and our commitments to purchase inventory and fixed
assets. We will satisfy these obligations as they become due
over the next seven years.

Future commitments under the operating leases for our facili-
ties and purchase commitments for inventory as of December
37, 2004 are as follows [in thousands):

Less than More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5Years 5 VYears
Facility
Commitments $ 10,606 $ 2,004 $ 4,187 $ 3,245 $1.170
Purchase
Commitments 722 722 — — —
Total $11.328 $2,726 $ 4,187 $ 3,245 $1,170

We bhelieve that our current cash, available-for-sale securities
balances and the cash flows generated by operations will be
sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash needs for working
capital, capital expenditures, investment requirements, stock
repurchases, and other liquidity requirements associated with
our existing operations for at least the coming year.
Nonetheless, we may raise additional funds through public or
private financing, collabcrative relationships or other arrange-
ments. We cannot assure you that additional funding, if sought,

will be available on terms favorable to us. Further, any additional
equity financing may be dilutive to stockholders, and debt
financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants.
Collaborative arrangements may require us to relinquish our
rights to some of our technologies or products. Our failure

to raise capital when needed may harm our business and
operating results.

A portion of our cash may be used to acquire or invest in
complementary businesses or products or to abtain the right to
use complementary technologies. From time to time, in the
ordinary course of business, we may evaluate potential acquisi-
tions of such businesses, products or technologies. We have
entered into an agreement to acquire Synthematix, Inc. for
approximately $13 million of cash at close plus an additional
potential payment of up to $4 million over a one-year period
based on achievement of incremental revenue targets. We
expect to close this transaction in earty April 2005.

CONTINGENCIES

We are currently not a party to any legal proceedings that we
believe to be material.

We may become subject to legal proceedings, claims, and litiga-
tion arising in the ordinary course of business. Although the
outcome of these matters is currently not determinable,
management does not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve
these matters will have a material adverse effect on our consoli-
dated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

We carry insurance with coverage and coverage limits that we
believe to be adequate. Although there can be no assurance that
such insurance is sufficient to protect us against all contingen-
cies, management believes that our insurance protection is
reasonable in view of the nature and scope of our operations.




OFF BALANCE SHEET FINANCING AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

We have not entered into any off-balance sheet financing
arrangements and have not established any special purpose
entities as of December 31, 2004. We have not guaranteed any
debt or commitments of other entities or entered into any
options on nan-financial assets. The only transactions between
us and related parties during 2004 were:

¢ Research and:development services, software licenses,
software support, and maintenance services provided and the
sale of certain research related equipment to llypsa, Inc;

Loans originally provided to certain employees and executive
officers for the exercise of stock options prior to aur initial
public offering in 1999, which were fully repaid as of December
31,2004; and

« Mario M. Rosati, one of our directors, is also a member of Witson
Sonsini Goedrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, which
provides legal sérvices with respect to real estate issues, for
which they receive compensation at normal commercial rates.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our capital
stock. We currently expect to retain future earnings, if any, to
support the development of our business and do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk is principally confined to our cash,
cash equivalents and investments which have maturities of less
than two years. We maintain a non-trading investment portfolio
of investment grade, liquid debt securities that limit the amount
of credit exposure‘to any one issue, issuer or type of instrument.
At December 31,2004 our investment portfolio comprised
approximately $19.4 million in money market funds and $117.1
miltion in U.S. corporate debt. The securities in our investment
portfolio are not teveraged, are classified as available-for-sale

and are therefore subject to interest rate risk. We currently do
not hedge interest rate exposure. If market interest rates were
to increase by 100 basis points, or 1%, from Decemnber 31, 2004
levels, the fair value of our portfolio would decline by approxi-
mately $583,000. The modeling technique used measures the
change in fair values arising from an immediate hypothetical
shift in market interest rates and assumes ending fair values
include principal plus accrued interest.

Interest Rate Sensitivity:
Principal Amount by Expected Maturity (in thousands)
Average Interest Rate

Fair Value
2005 2006 Total 12/31/04
Available-for-sale $105140  $12,418  $117,558  $117,082
securities
Average interest rate 1.99% 2.47% 2.04%
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Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Campany is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.
Internat control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15{f) and 15d-15[f] promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, as & process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial
officers and effected by the Company’'s Board, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the relia-
bility of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; liil provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, end that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations

of management and Directors of the Company; and liiil provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions ar that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Company's management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004. In making this assessment, the Company’'s management used criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission [COSO] in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.

As allowed by guidance provided by the Securities and Exchange Commission relating to current year acquisitions, the Company’'s
management excluded the internal controls of Symyx IntelliChem, Inc., a wholty-owned subsidiary, from its assessment of and
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal cantrol aver financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. The 2004 consolidated financial
statements of Symyx Technologies, Inc. included $27.5 mitlion and $26.9 million, of total assets and net assets, respectively, (consist-
ing principally of $23.0 million of intangibles and goodwill] as of December 31, 2004 and $24,000 of revenue and $3.1 million of net
loss (including a $2.3 million charge for acquired in-process research and development] for the year then ended in relation to Symyx
IntelliChem, Inc. The Company acquired Symyx IntelliChem, Inc. in a business combination on November 30, 2004. Based on its
assessment, the Company’s management believes that, as of December 31, 2004, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting was effective based on the criteria set forth by COSO.

The Company's independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued an audit report on management's assess-
ment of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. This report appears on page 35 of this Annual Repaort.

/s/ STEVEN D. GOLDEY /s/ JERYL L. HILLEMAN

Steven D. Goldby Jeryl L. Hilleman

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Symyx Technologies, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Symyx Technologies, Inc. Management Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that Symyx Technologies, Inc. maintained effective internal controt over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission [the COSO criteria). Symyx Technologies, Inc.'s management is responsibte for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s inter-
nal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board [United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1} pertain to the mainte-
nance of records that, in reasanable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3] provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detec-
tion of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent \imitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect risstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the deégree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Symyx Technologies, Inc. Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,
management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the
internal controls of Symyx IntelliChem, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary, acquired on November 30, 2004, which is included in the 2004
consolidated financial statements of Symyx Technotogies, inc. and constituted $27.5 million and $26.9 million of total and net assets,
respectively, as of December 31, 2004 and $24,000 revenues and $3.1 million of net loss for the year then ended.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting lcontinued)
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Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Symyx Technologies, Inc. atso did not include an evaluation of the internal
control over financial reporting of Symyx IntelliChem, Inc.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Symyx Technologies, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Symyx
Technologies, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board [United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Symyx Technologies, Inc. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consclidated income
statements and consolidated statements of stockholders™ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004 of Symyx Technologies, Inc. and our report dated March 3, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Sanet + LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 3, 2005




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Symyx Technologies, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated batance sheets of Symyx Technologies, inc. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and
the related consolidated income statements and consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States]. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to abtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finan-
cial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluatin:g the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasanable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Symyx Technologies, Inc. at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States], the effec-
tiveness of Symyx Technologies, Inc.’s internal control aver financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and
our report dated March 3, 2005 expressed an ungualified opinion thereon.

Sanet + LLP

Palo Alto, Californ‘ia
March 3, 2005
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Symyx Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

{In thousands, except share and per share information] 2004 2003
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 19,459 $ 17,110
Restricted cash 104 -
Available-for-sale securities 117,082 121,588
Accounts receivable 10,954 2,617
Inventories 2,579 3,743
Receivable from related party 7 —
Deferred tax assets, current 3,885 481
Interest receivable and other current assets 4,284 3,713
Total current assets 158,354 149,252
Property, plant and equipment, net 22,679 25,681
Goodwill 9,283 —
Intangible assets, net 15,114 856
Deferred tax and other assets 1,572 1.747
Total assets $207.002 $177536
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities $ 5,307 $ 4,643
Accrued compensation and employee benefits 3,929 2,142
Advance from related party — 137
Income taxes payable 1,927 1,055
Deferred rent 747 681
Deferred revenue 3,430 7,640
Warranty expense accrual 653 1,800
Total current liabilities 15,993 18,098
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, issuable in series; no shares issued
and outstanding - -
Common stock, $0.007 par value, 60,000,000 shares authorized; 32,484,589 and 31,610,108 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively 32 32
Additional paid-in capital 181,846 162,160
Stockholder notes receivable — [134)
Deferred stock compensation (418 {7)
Accumulated other comprehensive income {loss] (489) 31
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 10,238 (2,644)
Total stockholders’ equity 191,009 159,438
Total tiabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 207,002 $177,534

See accompanying notes.




Symyx Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Income Statements

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002
Revenue:
Service revenue $ 41,078 $ 37.018 $ 35397
Service revenue — related party 1,173 1,671 -~
Product sales 27,060 14,458 25,877
License fees and royalties 13.724 9816 3,547
License fees and royalties — related party 150 - -~
Total revenue 83,185 62,963 64,821
Operating expenses:
Cost of products sold 7.857 2,937 6,239
Research and development 39,969 38,387 39,307
Research and development — related party 1173 1,671 -
Sales, general and administrative 18,238 14,933 14,592
Acquired in-process.research and development 2,260 - -
Total operating expenses 69,497 57,928 60,138
Income from operations 13,688 5,035 4,683
Interest and other income 2,521 1,996 3,269
Interest and other expense - - (9}
Income before income tax expense 16,209 7,031 7,943
Income tax expense 3,327 1,290 2,657
Net income $ 12882 $ 5741 $ 5286
Basic net income per share $ 040 $ 018 % 0.7
Shares used in computing basic net income per share 32,067 31,199 30,647
Diluted net income per share $ 038 $ 018 & 017
Shares used in computing diluted net income per share 33,872 32,470 31,638

See accompanying notes.
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Symyx Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders™ Equity

40

Preferred Stock

Common Stock

(In thousands) Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance at January 1, 2002 — $— 30,674 $3
Repurchase of common stock — - (2) —
Issuance of comman stock on exercise of options — — 216 —
Issuance of common stock under employee share
purchase plan - — 92 —
Repayment of notes receivable — — — —
Amortization of deferred stock compensation - — — -
Deferred stock compensation related to
terminated employees — — - —
Tax benefit from employee stock option plans — — — —
Comprehensive income:
Net income for the year ended December 31, 2002 — - - —
Unrealized gain [loss) an foreign currency translation - — — —
Unrealized gain {loss] on available-for-sale securities,
net of income taxes of $247 — — — —
Comprehensive income
Balance at December 31, 2002 — - 30,920 31
Repurchase of common stock - - (2] -
Issuance of common stock on exercise of options — — 579 1
Issuance of common stock under
employee share purchase plan - - 13 -
Repayment of notes receivable - — - —
Issuance of options to consultants for services received — — — —
Amortization of deferred stock compensation - — - —
Deferred stock compensation related
to terminated employees — — — -
Tax benefit from employee stock option plans - — — -
Comprehensive income:
Net income for the year ended December 31, 2003 — — — —
Unrealized gain (loss] on foreign currency translation — - — —
Unrealized gain {loss) on available -for -sale securities,
net of income taxes of $61 — — — —
Comprehensive income
Balance at December 31, 2003 (carryforward) -~ $— 31,610 $32

See accompanying notes.




Accumulated Retained
Additional Stockholder Deferred Other Earnings Total
Paid-In Notes Stock Comprehensive [Accumulated Stockholders’
Capital Receivable Compensation Income (Loss) Deficit) Equity
$ 148,366 $ [410] $ (335) $516 $(13.671) $ 134,497
(1) - - - - 1)
905 . — — - — 905
1,055 - - - - 1,055
- 6 — - - 6
— - 168 — — 168
(75) - - 75 - - —
3,963 - — - — 3,963
- - — - 5.286 5,286
- - - (1) — (1)
- - - (3951 - (395]
4,890
154,213 {404) (92) 120 [8,385) 145,483
{2 - - - - 2)
6:006 — - — - 6,007
1.115 - - — - 1,115
- 270 - - - 270
94 — — — - 94
— — 43 — - 43
(42] - 42 - - -
776 - - - - 776
- - — — 5.741 5,741
- - — 2 - 2
~- - - (91 — (91
5,652
$ 162,160 $ (134] $1(7) $ 31 $ (2.644] $ 159,438




Symyx Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders™ Equity [continued]

Preferred Stock Common Stock

{In thousands) Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2003 [brought forward) — $— 31,610 $32
Issuance of common stock on exercise of aptions — — 742 —

Issuance of common stock under employee share
purchase plan — — 133 —

Repayment of notes receivable — - — —

Issuance of stock options in connection with acquisition — - — —

Amortization of deferred stock compensation — — — -

Issuance of options to consultants for service received — — - —

Tax benefit from employee stock option plans — — — —

Comprehensive income:

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2004 — — — —
Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency translation — — — —
Unrealized gain (loss] on available-for-sale securities,

net of income taxes of $28 — — — -

Comprehensive income
Balance at December 21, 2004 — $— 32,485 $32

See accompanying notes.




Accumulated Retained
Additional Stockholder Deferred Other Earnings Total
Paid-In Notes Stock Comprehensive (Accumulated Stockholders’
Capital Receivable Compensation income [Loss] Deficit] Equity
$ 162,160 $(134) $ 7 $ 31 $ (2,644) $ 159,438
10,574 — - - — 10,574
1,433 - - - - 1,433
- 134 — — - 134
1,041 — {651) - — 390
- — 40 — - 40
500 - — - — 500
6,138 - - - - 6138
— - - - 12,882 12,882
- - - (1) - (1)
- - - [519) - (519)
12,362
$ 181,846 $ ~ $ (618) $ 1489) $ 10,238 $191,009

43



Symyx Technologies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 12,882 $ 5741 $ 5,286
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 12,532 11,556 10,643
Acquired in-process research and development 2,260 — —
Arnortization of intangible assets 427 369 424
Stock-based compensation 540 137 168
Gain on sale of fixed assets {155) — —
Deferred income taxes (3,469} 103 558
Tax benefit from employee stock transactions 6,138 776 3,963
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (7.012) 4,080 (6,243)
Inventories 1,164 (1,503) (48]
Receivable from related party {71 — —
Interest receivable and other current assets 371 (881) (306)
Other long-term assets 257 142 (325)
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 250 132 577
Accrued compensation and employee benefits 1,528 937 87
Advance from related party [137) 137 —
Income taxes payable 200 863 (2,568
Deferred rent 66 119 161
Deferred revenue (4,498) 4,626 {3,623
Warranty expense accrual (1,147) [99) 925
Net cash provided by operating activities 22,925 27,235 9,679
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, net 14,470} [9.723) 14,482}
Purchases of available-far-sale securities [113,93¢4) (145,198) (76,148
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities 101,326 112,090 78,995
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities 11,987 — —
Acquisition, net of cash acquired {26,873] - -
Acquisition of technology [750) (315) —
Net cash used in investing activities (32,716] [43,144)
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Years Ended December 31,

{In thousands] 2004 2003 2002
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of repurchases 12,141 7,390 1,965
Net cash provided by financing activities 12,141 7,390 1,965
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents {1) 2 1
Net increase {decrease] in cash and cash equivalents 2,349 (8.519] 10,008
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 17.110 25,629 15,621
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 19,459 $ 17,110 $ 25,629
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Income taxes paid (refunded] $ (243 $ (474 % 791
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Employee stock aptions assumed in connection with acquisition $ 1,04 $ - $ -

See accompanying notes.
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Symyx Technologies, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Symyx Technologies, Inc. [the "Company” or "Symyx"] develops
and applies high-throughput experimentation to the discovery of
innovative materials for chemical and petrochemical, pharmaceu-
tical development, electronics, consumer goods, and automotive
customers. Symyx works with companies seeking to transform
and accelerate their search for better products and processes
through research collaborations, Discovery Tools sales, and the
license of materials, intellectual property, and software.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Symyx
Discovery Tools, Inc., incorporated in California, Symyx
Technologies International, Inc., incorporated in Delaware,
Symyx IntelliChem, Inc., incorporated in Oregon, and Symyx
Technologies AG, incorporated in Switzerland. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated
on consolidation.

USE OF ESTIMATES

Preparing financial statements requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. Estimates include
future warranty expenditures and product life cycles, and
assumptions such as the elements comprising a software
arrangement, including the distinction between
upgrades/enhancements and new products; when technological
feasibility is achieved for our products; the potential outcome of
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in
our financial statements or tax returns; and determining when
investment impairments are other-than-temporary. Actual
results and outcomes may differ from management’s estimates
and assumptions. For example, the actual results with regard to
warranty expenditures could have a materiat unfavorable impact
on the Company if system failures or the cost to repair a system
is greater than what the Company has used in estimating the
warranty expense accrual.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period
amounts to conform to the current period presentations.
Amounts received from a related party reported as accounts

payable and deferred revenue in the previous period have been
reclassified as an advance from a related party. Segment
revenue for prior periods has been reclassified to conform to the
current period presentations.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company considers all highty liguid investments, with
maturities of three months or less on the date of purchase, to be
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are carried at fair value.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Management determines the appropriate classification of debt
securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such deter-
mination as of each balance sheet date. The Company has
classified its entire investment portfolio as available-for-sale.
Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value, with the
unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported in other
comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses and declines
in value judged to be other-than-temporary on available-for-sale
securities are included in interest income. The estimated fair
value amounts have been determined by the Company using
available market information.

The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortiza-
tion of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such
amortization is included in interest income. The cost of securi-
ties sold is based on the specific identification method. Interest
and dividends are included in interest income.

The Campany invests its excess cash primarily in deposits with
banks and short-term and medium-term marketable securities.
These investments primarily include corporate notes, money
market funds, and U.S. treasury notes. By policy, the Company
restricts its investments to long-term bank obligations rated "A”
or higher and short-term obligations rated "P1” or higher by
Moody's or “A1" or higher by Standard & Poor’s ("S&P”], and
corporate obligations, including intermediate term notes rated
"A” or higher, and commercial paper rated "P1” or higher by
Moody's, or "A1" or higher by S&P. By policy, the Company
restricts its investments to instruments with maturities of less
than twenty-four months.




The following is a summary of the fair value of cash, cash
equivalents and available-for-sale securities (in thousands):

December 31,

Unrealized losses of available-for-sale securities by duration
and fair value of investments are as follows [in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003 2004 2003
Cashond cashequialents 5 194508 170 e e e
U.S. corporate debt securities 117,082 120,544 Less than
U.S. Treasury securities - 1,044 12months 5 [442] $ 87,607 $ (70) $59.671
Total $ 136,541 $ 138,698 ;zgrr\g;tehrs (69] 21437 B _
Above amounts are included in the following line items on the Total  $ (571 $ 109.044 $ (70) $59.671

consolidated balance sheet (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Cash and cash equivalents $ 19.459 $ 17.110
Available-for-sale securities 117,082 121,588
Total $ 136,541 $ 138,698

Realized losses on the sale of available-for-sale securities
for the year ended December 31, 2004 were minimal.

The Company had no realized gains or losses for the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Unrealized gains and
losses for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
are included in Note 1 "Comprehensive Income.”

The fair value of the Company's investment in debt securities,
by contractual maturity, is as follows {in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Due in less than 1 year $ 104,764 $ 65,971
Duein 1to 2 years 12,318 55,617
Total $ 117,082 $121,588

At December 31, 2004 unrealized losses of $511,000 were
all related to U.S. corporate debt securities. Unrealized
losses are primarily attributable to changes in interest rates.
Of the unrealized losses of $511,000 at December 31, 2004,

" $69,000 exceeded twelve months. The Company does nat

believe any unrealized losses represent an other-than-tempo-
rary impairment based on its evaluation of available evidence
as of December 31, 2004. The largest single unrealized loss
on any security was only $44,000 and represented less than
1% of the value at which the security was carried.

RESTRICTED CASH

in connection with a lease transaction (See Note 3
"Commitments and Contingencies — Leases.”} acquired as
part of the business combination with IntelliChem (See Note

7 "Business Combination.”), the Company has restricted cash
at December 31, 2004 of approximately $104,000 representing
a security deposit required by the lease agreement for its Bend,
Oregon facility. The requirement of retaining the restricted cash
will expire on March 31, 2005. There was no restricted cash at
December 31, 2003.
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Symyx Technologies, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of
equipment is computed on the straight-line method using & life of
three to five years for financial reporting purposes and by acceler-
ated methods for income tax purposes. Depreciation of buildings
is computed on the straight-line method using a life of thirty years
for financial reporting purposes. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated
useful life of the assets for financial reporting purposes.

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following
(in thousands:

December 31,

2004 2003
Machinery and equipment $ 21216 $ 19,057
Computers and software 3,236 3,435
Land and building 3,557 3,551
Leasehold improvements 25,033 23,785
Construction in progress 987 1,406
Furniture and fixtures 1,032 970
55,055 52,204

Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization {32,376] (26,523]
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 22,679 $ 25,681

At December 31, 2004, no property, plant and equipment was
pledged as collateral against borrowings. Amortization of
leasehold improvements is included in depreciation expense.
Depreciation expense was $7,951,000, $7,797.000, and
$8,818,000 in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The Company routinely evaluates the carrying value of its
long-lived assets. The Company records impairment losses
on long-lived assets used in operations when events and
circumstances indicate that assets may be impaired and the
undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by the
assets are less than the carrying amount of those assets.
To date, no impairment charges have been recognized.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin
("SAB") No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,

SAB No. 104, Revenue Recognition, the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position {"S0P")
97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP

98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition,
Financial Accounting Standards Board Technical Bulletin 90-1,
Accounting for Separately Priced Extended Warranty and Product
Maintenance Contracts, and other authoritative accounting
literature. The Company generates revenue from services
provided under research collabarations, the sale of products,
the license of software, the provision of support and mainte-
nance services, and the license of intellectual property. It is
possible for the Company's customers to work with it in
multiple areas of its business and contracts may include multi-
ple elements of service revenue, product revenue, and license
revenue. In determining the basis for revenue recognition,

the Company first determines the fair value of any extended
warranty services and defers this revenue to be recognized
over the service period. For those contracts that involve muttiple
element deliverables, the Company identifies all deliverables,
determines the units of accounting and allocates revenue
between the units of accounting in accordance with the
Emerging Issues Task Force consensus on Issue 00-21,
Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements. {"EITF 00-217).

tn an arrangement that includes software that is more than
incidental to the products or services as a whole, the Company
recognizes revenue from the software and software-related
elements, as well as any non-software deliverable(s) for

which a software deliverable is essential to its functionality,

in accordance with SOP 97-2.

Service Revenue The Company recognizes service revenue from
research collaboration agreements, software consulting, and
support and maintenance agreements as earned based upon
the performance requirements of the agreements. Payments
received prior to performance are deferred and recognized

as revenue when earned over future performance periods.
Collaboration agreements specify minimum levels of research
effort required to be performed by the Company. Payments
received under research collaboration agreements are not
refundable if the research effort is not successful. Direct costs
associated with research collaborations are included in research
and development expense. Software consulting agreements
specify the number of days of consulting services to be provided
by the Company. Support and maintenance agreements specify




the term of the prbduct maintenance and the nature of the
services to be provided by the Company during the term. Direct
costs associated with software consulting and support and
maintenance were immaterial to date and therefore were

also included in research.and development expense.

Non-refundable up-fron{ payments received in connection with
research and deve‘lopment collaboration agreements, including
technology access fees, are deferred and recognized on a
straight-line basis over the relevant periods specified in the
agreement, geneﬁélly the research term. Revenue from milestone
payments, which are substantially at risk until the milestones are
completed, is recogmzed upon completion of these milestone
events. Milestone payments to date have been immaterial.

Extended product maintenance contracts, which typically provide
both extended warranty coverage and product maintenance
services, are separately priced from the product, and are
recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term

of the coverage. The Company’s product related software
licenses may provide for technical support, bug fixes and rights
to unspecified upgrades on a when-and-if-available basis for
periods defined within the contract. Revenue related to this post
contract customer support is deferred and recognized aver the
term of the contracted support.

Product Sales Product sales revenue includes sales of Discovery
Tools hardware aﬁd the license of associated software.

The Company’s iécovery Tools systems are typically delivered
under multiple-element arrangements, which include hardware,
software and intellectual property licenses, and maintenance. A
determination is made for each system delivered as to whether
software is incidental to the system as a whole. If software is not
incidental to the Discovery Tools system as a whole, revenue
from these arrangements is recognized in accordance with
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of
Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition ["SOP 97-27), as
amended. If software is incidental to the Discovery Tools system,
revenue from the sale of the Discovery Tools system is earned
and recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, delivery of the product has occurred, no significant
obligations with regard to.implementation remain, the fee is
fixed ar determinzble, and collectibility is probable. This is
generally upon shi‘pment, transfer of title to and acceptance by
the customer of the hardware and associated licenses to
software and intellectual property, unless there are extended

payment terms. The Company considers all arrangements with
payment terms extending beyond twelve months not to be fixed
or determinable. If the fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue
is recognized as payments become due from the customer.

In multiple element arrangements, the Company uses the
residual method to allocate revenue to delivered elements
once it has established fair value for all undelivered elements.
Payments received in advance under these arrangements are
recorded as deferred revenue until earned. An accrual is estab-
lished for warranty expenses at the time the associated revenue
is recognized, Shipping and insurance costs associated with
the sale of discovery tools systems are not material and are
included in sales, general and administrative costs. For the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, shipping and
Insurance costs associated with the sale of discovery tools
systems were immaterial.

Software License Fees Revenue is recognized when persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the
fee is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is probable. The
Company enters into certain arrangements where it is obligated
to deliver multiple products and/or services [multiple elements).
In these transactions, the Company allocates the total revenue
among the elements based on the sales price of each element
when sold separately (vendor-specific objective evidence).

The amount of revenue allocated to undelivered elements is
based on the vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value for
those elements using the residual method. Under the residual
method, the total fair value of the undelivered elements, as
indicated by vendor-specific objective evidence, is recorded as
unearned, and the difference between the total arrangement
fee and the amount recorded as unearned for the undelivered
elements is recognized as revenue related to delivered

“elements. If evidence of the fair value of one or more undeliv-

ered elements does not exist, the total revenue is deferred and
recognized when delivery of those elements occurs or when fair
value can be established.

Revenue fram multi-year licensing arrangements are accounted
for as subscriptions, with billings recorded as unearned revenue
and recognized as revenue ratably over the billing coverage
period. Certain multi-year licensing arrangements include rights
to receive future versions of software product on a when-and-if-
available basis.
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The Company considers all arrangements with payment terms
longer than twelve months not to be fixed or determinable. If the
fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is recognized as
payments become due from the customer, provided all the other
revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Intellectual Property License Fees and Royalties Amounts
received from third parties for licenses to the Company’s intel-
lectual property are recegnized when earned under the terms of
the agreements. Revenue is recognized upon transfer of the
license unless the Company has continuing obligations for which
fair value cannot be established, in which case the revenue is
recognized over the period of the obligation. If there are
extended payment terms, license fee revenue is recognized as
these payments become due. The Company considers all
arrangements with payment terms extending beyond 12 months
not to be fixed or determinable. If there is a provision in the
licensing agreement for a variable fee in addition to a non-
refundable minimum amount, the amount of the non-refundable
minimum guarantee is recognized upon transfer of the license
unless the Company has continuing obligations for which fair
value cannot be established and the amount of the variable fee
in excess of the guaranteed minimum is recognized as revenue
when it is fixed and determinable.

Royalty revenue is recorded based on reported sales by third
party licensees of products containing the Company’s software
and intellectual property. If there are extended payment terms,
royalty revenues are recognized as these payments become due.
Non-refundable rayalties, for which there are no further
performance obligations, are recognized when due under the
terms of the agreements.

Amounts received from third parties for options to license
certain technology or enter collaborative arrangements upon
specified terms are deferred until either the option is exercised
or the option right expires.

CONCENTRATION OF REVENUE

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and
2002 the following customers contributed more than 10%
of the Company's total revenue for the year (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Eli Lilly and Company $ 132 $ 275 $ 10,419
ExxonMobil 45016 21,945 12,136
The Dow Chemical Company 4,420 4,350 8,650
Merck 3,553 8,410 5.876
Undisclosed Partner 2,627 6,657 6,706
Total $ 55548  $ 41,637 $ 43,787

The revenue from the above customers has been included in the
following reportable segments for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003, and 2002 [in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

tndustry Collaborations $30970  $ 26731 % 18,296
Discovery Tools 16,797 11113 24,726
Intellectual Property Licensing 3,100 2850 —
Software 4,681 943 765
Total $ 55548  $ 41,637 % 43,787

The revenue from the above customers has been included in the
Cansolidated Income Statements as follows (in thousands);

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Service revenue $ 28456  $ 25297 % 23135

Product sales 15,649 8,350 20,566

License fees and royalties 11,443 7,990 86

Total $ 55548  $ 41,637 % 43,787
INVENTORY

Work in process inventory consists of customized Discovery Tools
systems in the process of being built. Finished goads inventory
consists of customized Discovery Tools systems that have been
finished but are pending shipment to customers. Inventories are
carried at the lower of cost or market, determined on a specific
identification basis. The following table summarizes the compo-
nents of the Company's inventory balance {in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Work in Process $ 2579 $ 1,960
Finished Goods — 1,783
Total $ 2,579 $ 3,743




WARRANTY EXPENSE ACCRUAL

The Company offers a warranty on each Discovery Tool System
shipped. The specific terms and conditions of these warranties
vary depending upon the product sold and country in which the
Company does business. However they typically include coverage
for parts and labor and software bug fixes, for a specified period
(typically one year]. The Company estimates the costs that may
be incurred under its basic limited warranty and records a liabil-
ity in the amount of such costs at the time product revenue is
recognized. Factors that affect the Company's warranty liability
include the number of installed units, historical and anticipated
rates of warranty claims, and cost per claim. The Company
periodically assesses the adequacy of its recorded warranty
liabilities and adjusts the amounts as necessary.

Changes in the Company’'s warranty accrual during the year
ended December 31, 2004 are as follows [in thousands}:

Balance as of January 1, 2004 $ 1,800
New warranties issued during the period 421
Costs incurred during the period on specific systems (602
Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties

during the period, including expirations (966)
Balance as of December 31, 2004 $ 653

GOODWILL

Goodwill will be tested using a fair-value-based approach for
impairment on at least an annual basis or more frequently if
indicators of potential impairment exist. No impairment of
goodwill has been identified during any of the periods presented.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method
over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from four to seven
years. The Company evaluates the recoverability of intangible
assets periodically and take into account events or circum-
stances that warrant revised estimates of useful lives or that
indicate that impairment exists. All of the Company’s intangible
assets are subject to amortization. No impairments of intangible
assets have been identified during any of the periods presented.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Symyx’s policy is to expense as incurred all costs of research
and development, including direct and allocated expenses,
related both to costs incurred on its own behalf and on behalf

of its customers. The types of costs classified as research and
development expense include sataries of technical staff, consult-
ant costs, chemical and scientific supplies costs, facilities rental,
and utilities costs related to laboratories and offices occupied by
technical staff, depreciation on equipment and facilities used by
technical staff and outside services such as machining and
third-party research and development costs.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes have been provided using the liability method.
Deferred tax assets or liabilities are determined based on the
difference between the financial statement and tax basis of
assets and liabilities as measured by the enacted tax rates
which will be in effect when these differences reverse. The
Company provides a valuation allowance against net deferred
tax assets unless, based upon the available evidence, it is

more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized.

SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, Accounting
for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise
Marketed, requires the capitalization of certain software develop-
ment costs subsequent to the establishment of technological
feasibility. As the Company’s business model has evolved, it has
commenced bundling with the Discovery Tools it sells, licenses to
software that was originally developed for internal research and
development purposes. Due to the unigue nature of the Discovery
Tool systems, and the reguired product development process,
technological feasibility is established only upon the completion of
a working model. Costs incurred by the Company between the
completion of the working model and the point at which the
product is ready for general release have been insignificant.
Accordingly, the Company has charged all such costs to research
and development expense in the period incurred.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company generally grants stock options to its employees
for a fixed number of shares with an exercise price equal to

the fair value of the shares on the date of grant. As allowed
under the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation {'SFAS 12371, the
Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees

["APB 25") and related interpretations in accounting for stock
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awards to employees. Accordingly, no compensation expense is
recognized in the Company's financial statements in connection
with stock options granted to employees with exercise prices
not less than fair value. Deferred compensation for options
granted to employees is determined as the difference between
the deemed fair market value of the Company’s common

stock on the date options were granted and the exercise price.
For purposes of this pre-forma disclosure, the estimated fair
value of the options is assumed to be amortized to expense
over the options’ vesting periods.

Stock compensation expense for options granted to non-employ-
ees has been determined in accordance with SFAS 123 and

EITF 96-18 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Stock compensation expense for options granted to non-employ-
ees is periodically re-measured as the underlying options vest.

Pro forma net loss information is required by SFAS 123, computed
as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options
granted under the fair value method of that Statement. The fair
value for options granted prior ta the Company's initial public offer-
ing in November 1999 was estimated at the date of grant using the
minimum value method. Options granted following the Company’s
Naovember 1999 initial public offering have been valued using the
Black-Scholes method with valuation assumptions as follows:

Had the Company valued its stock options and stock purchase
rights according to the fair value provisions of SFAS 123, pro
forma net incorme [loss) and pro forma net income [loss) per
share would have been as follows (in thousands, except per
share datal:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected stock price volatility 0.53 0.67 0.74
Risk-free interest rate 3.0% 2.2% 3.7%
Expected life [years) 35 35 35

The fair value of issuances under the Employee Stock Purchase
Plan is estimated on the issuance date using the Black-Scholes
model assuming no expected dividends and the following
weighted average assumptions for issuance made in 2004, 2003,
and 2002.

2004 2003 2002
Expected stock price volatility 0.51 0.48 0.55
Risk-free interest rate 1.7% 1.5% 2.1%
Expected life years) 1.62 0.75 0.71

2004 2003 2002
Net income [loss):
As reported $ 12882 $ 5741 $ 5286
Add: Stock-based
employee compensation
expense included in
reported net income 40 43 168
Deduct: Total stock-based
employee compensation
expense determined under
fair value method for all
awards, net of related
tax effects (13,057} (15,171) (22,269)
Pro forma $ (135 $ (9.387) $1({16,815)
Basic net income (loss)
per share:
As reported $ 040 & 018 & 017
Pro forma * % (030} ¢ (055
Diluted net income [(loss)
per share:
As reported $ 038 ¢ 018 $ 077
Pro forma $ * ¢ (030 $ (0.55)

*  Less than $0.01 per share




NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per share has been computed using the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstand-
ing during the period, less.shares subject to repurchase. Diluted
net income per share has been calculated based on the shares
used in the calculation of basic net income per share plus the
dilutive effect of stock options and shares subject to repurchase
by the Company.

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted
net income per share lin thousands, except per share data).

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Net income $12882 % 5741 $ 5286
Weighted-average shares of

common stock outstanding 32,067 31,213 30,798
Less: weighted-average

shares subject to repurchase - (14) (151]
Weighted-average shares

used in computing basic net

income per share’ 32,067 31,199 30,647
Dilutive effect of employee

stock options, using the

treasury stock method 1,805 1,257 840
Weighted-average shares

subject to repurchase — 14 151
Weighted-average shares

used in computing; dituted

net income per share 33,872 32,470 31,638

Basic netincome per share ¢ 040 $ 018 $ 0.17

Diluted netincome pershare $ 038 $ 018 $ 0.7

The Company has excluded 3,160,000, 2,748,000, and 3,699,000
shares of outstanding stock options from the calculation of
diluted net income per share in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respec-
tively, because all such securities are anti-dilutive for the
respective periods.

EMPLOYEE SAVINGS PLAN

The Company'has a savings plan in the United States that quali-
fies under Section 401k} ¢f the Internal Revenue Code.
Participating U.S."employees may contribute up to 60% of their
pretax salary, but not more than statutory limits. In 2004, the

Company began contributing 25 cents for each dollar & participant
contributes in this plan, with a maximum matching contribution of
1% of a participant’s earnings. Matching contributions for the plan
were $250,000 in fiscal 2004. Matching contributions are invested
proportionate to each participant’s voluntary contributions in the
investment options provided under the plan. Investment options in
the plan do not include Symyx common stock.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The financial statements of the Company’'s wholly owned
subsidiary, Symyx Technologies AG, are measured using the
local currency as the functional currency. Assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary are translated at the rates of exchange at the
balance sheet date. The resultant translation adjustments are
recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity as
accumulated other comprehensive income and have not been
significant to date. Income and expense items are translated at
average monthly rates of exchange.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
The Company accounts for the impairment and disposal of
long-lived assets utilizing Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impafirment or Disposal

of Long-Lived Assets {'SFAS 1447). SFAS 144 requires that
long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment, and
purchased intangible assets subject to amortization, be reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recover-
able. The recoverability of an asset is measured by a comparison
of the carrying amount of an asset to its estimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected to be generated. If the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an
impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.
Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the
balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount
or fair value less costs to sell, and would no longer be depreci-
ated. The assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as
held for sale would be presented separately in the appropriate
asset and liability sections of the balance sheet.
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The components of other camprehensive income consist of
unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and
a foreign currency translation adjustment, both net of tax.
Comprehensive income has been disclosed in the statement of
stockholders’ equity far all periods presented.

The camponents of accumulated other comprehensive income at
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 are as follows (in thousands):

Foreign Unrealized

Currency  Gain [Loss} On
Translation Available-For-
Adjustments Sale Securities  Total

Balance at January 1, 2002 $ (12} $ 528 $ 516
Fareign currency translation

adjustment (1) -~ {1
Unrealized loss on available-

for-sale securities, net of

$247 taxes - (395) (395)
Balance at December 31, 2002 {13) 133 120
Foreign currency translation

adjustment 2 — 2
Unrealized loss on available-

for-sale securities, net of

$61 taxes — (91} {91)
Balance at December 31, 2003 (1) 42 31
Foretgn currency translation

adjustment (1) — (1)
Unrealized loss on available-

for-sale securities, net of

$28 taxes - (519) {519)
Balance at December 31,2004 $ (12) $ (477) $ (489)

Effect of New Accounting Pronouncements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board ("FASB"} issued FASB Staternent No. 123 (revised 2004],
Share-Based Payment, ['SFAS 123(R]"), which is a revision

of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation. SFAS 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, ["APB 257), and amends
FASB SFAS 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Generally, the approach
in SFAS 123[R} is similar to the approach described in SFAS 123
However, SFAS 123(R] requires all share-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be
recognized in the income statement based on

their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative.

SFAS 123{R} must be adopted by the Company no tater than
July 1, 2008,

SFAS 123[R) permits public companies to adopt its require-
ments using one of two methods:

1. A "modified prospective” method in which compensation cost
is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based on the
requirements of SFAS 123(R] for all share-based payments
granted after the effective date, and [b) based on the require-
ments of SFAS 123 for all awards granted to employees prior
to the effective date of Statement 123(R] that remain unvested
on the effective date.

2. A "modified retrospective” method which includes the require-
ments of the modified prospective method described above,
but also permits entities to restate based on the amounts
previously recognized under SFAS 123 for purposes of pro
forma disclosures either (a) all prior periods presented or
{b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption.

The Company expects to adopt Statement 123(R} using the
modified-prospective method.

As permitted by SFAS 123, the Company currently accounts for
share-based payments to employees using APB25’s intrinsic
vatue method and, as such, generally recognizes no compensa-
tion cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of
SFAS 123[R]'s fair value method will have a significant impact on
the Company's result of operations, although it will have no
impact on the Company's overall financial position. The impact
of adoption of SFAS 123(R] cannot be predicted at this time




because it will depend on levels of share-based payments
granted in the future. However, had the Company adopted SFAS
123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that standard would have
approximated the impact of SFAS 123 as described in the disclo-
sure of pro forma net income {loss] and earnings per share in
Note 1 to the consoclidated financial statements ("Stock Based
Compensation”]. SFAS 123(R] alsc requires the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be
reported as afinancing cash flow, rather than as an operating
cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement
will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net financing
cash flows in periods after adoption. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact on its financial statements upon the
adoption of SFAS 123(R].

THE MEANING OF OTHER-THAN-TEMPORARY IMPAIRMENT AND
ITS APPLICATION TO CERTAIN INVESTMENTS

In March 2004, the FASB ratified the recognition and measurement
guidance and certain disclosure requirements for impaired
securities as described in Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF]
Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment
and Its Application to Certain Investments. EITF Issue No. 03-1
provides new guidance for determining and recording impairment
for both debtand equity securities. It also requires additional
disclosure for declines in investments that are deemed to be
temporary under the standard. In September 2004, the FASB
approved the issuance of a FASB Staff Position to delay certain
measurement and recognition guidance contained in EITF Issue
No. 03-1. The Campany will evaluate the effect, if any, of EITF
Issue No. 03-1, when final guidance is released. Disclosures
required under EITF Issue No. 03-1 are included in Note 1 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

WHETHER AN INVESTOR SHOULD APPLY THE EQUITY METHOD OF
ACCOUNTING TO INVESTMENTS OTHER THAN COMMON STOCK
in July 2004, the FASB ratified Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF} consensus on Issue No. 02-14, Whether an Investor
Should Apply the Equity Method of Accounting to Investments
Other Than Common Stock, which provides guidance regarding
application of the equity method of accounting to investments
other than common stock. EITF Issue No. 02-14 applies

to reporting periods beginning after September 15, 2004.

The adoption of EITF issue No. 02-14 did not have a material
impact on the Company’s financial statements,

INVENTORY COSTS

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory
Costs—an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. ['SFAS 1517},
SFAS 151 amends ARB 43, Chapter 4 to clarify that "abnormat’
amounts of idle facitity expense, freight, handling costs and
spoilage should be recognized as current period charges. SFAS
151 is effective for inventary costs incurred during fiscal years

. beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not anticipate

that the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on
the Company's financial statements.

EXCHANGES OF NONMONETARY ASSETS

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of
Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB No. 29. ["SFAS 1537,
SFAS 153 amends ARB 29 to eliminate the exception for
nonmaonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and
replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmone-
tary assets that do not have commercial substance. SFAS 153

is effective for nonmonetary asset exchanges accurring in fiscal
periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not
anticipate that the adoption of this standard will have a material
impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING FOR PREEXISTING RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE
PARTIES TO A BUSINESS COMBINATION

In October 2004, the FASB ratified Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) consensus on Issue No. 04-1, Accounting for Preexisting
Relationship between the Parties to a Business Combination, which
provides guidance regarding separate accounting when two
parties that have a pre-existing contractual relationship enter
into a business combination. EITF Issue No. 04-01 applies to
reporting periods beginning after October 13, 2004. The adoption
of EITF lssue No. 04-1is not expected to have a material impact
on the Company's financial statements.

APPLICATION OF FASB STATEMENT NO. 109, ACCOUNTING

FOR INCOME TAXES, TO THE TAX DEDUCTION ON QUALIFIED
PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES PROVIDED BY THE AMERICAN JOBS
CREATION ACT OF 2004

On December 21, 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position
109-1 ("FAS FSP 109-17], Application of FASB Statement Na. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified
Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation
Act of 2004, which provides guidance on the apptication of FASB
Statement 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the provision
within the American Job Creation Act of 2004 that provides a

tax deduction on qualified production activities. FAS FSP 109-1
applies to reporting periods beginning after December 21, 2004,
The adoption of FAS FSP 109-1 is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

THE EFFECT OF CONTINGENTLY CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS ON
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

In October 2004, the FASB ratified Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF} consensus on Issue No. 04-8, The Effect of Contingently
Convertible Instruments on Diluted Earnings per Share, which
provides guidance regarding when contingently convertible
instruments should be included in diluted earnings per share.
EITF Issue No. 04-8 applies to reporting periods ending after
December 15, 2004. The adoption of EITF Issue No. 04-8 is not
expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial
statements.

DETERMINING WHETHER TO AGGREGATE OPERATING SEGMENTS
THAT DO NOT MEET THE QUANTITATIVE THRESHOLDS

In October 2004, the FASB ratified Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) consensus on Issue No. 04-10, Determining Whether to
Aggregate Operating Segments That Do Not Meet the Quantitative
Thresholds, which provides guidance regarding how an enter-
prise should evaluate the aggregation criteria in paragraph 17
of FASB Statement 131 when determining whether operating
segments that do not meet the quantitative thresholds may be
aggregated in accordance with paragraph 19 of FASB Statement
131. The effective date of EITF Issue No. 04-10 has not been
determined but early application is permitted. The adoption of
EITF Issue No. 04-10 is not expected to have a material impact
an the Company's financial statements.

2. Research and Development Arrangements

The Company has entered into a number of multi-year research
and development collaborations to perform research for partners
in exclusive fields over multiple years. The major collaborative
arrangements have similar contractual terms and are non-
cancelable other than for material breach or certain other
conditions. Under the collaborative arrangements, the Company
is responsible for performing research at levels defined in the
agreement, including synthesis, screening, and informatics.

The partner, in turn, is entitled to develop and commercialize
materials discovered in or under collaboration within the defined
field. The Company typically receives research and development
funding at specified amounts per full time equivalent employee
working on the project and is entitled to receive royalties on the
sale of any products commerciatized under the agreement or
payments on the achievement of specified research milestones.
The agreements also contain procedures by which the Company
and the partner will determine royalty rates for the sale or
license of products under the agreements.




The table below indicates some of the significant collaborative
partners for whom the Company conducted research and
development in 2004, together with the primary focus of the
collaborations. In addition to these partners the Company has
a number of other undisclosed partners, none of which
individually constituted more than 5% of total revenue in 2004:
Primary focus of

current collaborative
efforts

Current Research
Contract Ends

BP 12/31/2005

Partner

Catalysts for certain
commodity chemicals

Dow Chemical 12/31/2009 Catalysts for Polyolefins
and other chemicals
and formulations

ExxonMobil 5/31/2008 Catalysts for certain

commodity chemicals
including olefins
Undisclosed Partner 1 1/31/2005 Catalysts for automative
applications

Undisclosed Partner2 5/18/2005 Polymeric materials

The Company's collaborative agreements may provide for a
variety of structures with respect to ownership of inventions
conceived and reduced to practice in connection with activities
under the agreements, but under a typicat collaborative arrange-
ment, the Company owns all inventicns conceived and reduced
to practice solely by the Company and all know-how and intellec-
tual property rights related thereto; and the Company and the
collaborative partner jointly own all inventions made, conceived,
reduced to practice, or otherwise developed jointly by employees
or consultants of the Company and those of the collaborative
partner in connection with activities under the agreement and

all know-how and intellectual property rights related thereto.
The Company's collaborative partner typically receives exclusive
rights in the defined field of the collaborative agreement.

The agreements are typically cancetable only in the event

of breach by either party or certain other conditions. As of
December 31, 2004, the Company had committed funding from
existing collaborative partners, excluding milestone payments
that are contingent upon the success of the research, of over
$1460 mitlion. Revenue from collaborative partners who individu-
ally comprised more than 10% of revenue is included within
Note 1 "Concentration of Revenue.”

In 2003, Symyx entered into an Alliance, Technology Transfer and
License Agreement effective April 1, 2003 with ExxonMabil
Research and Engineering Company under which the Company
is contracted to provide research services, develop and sell
Discovery Tools Systems, and license its software and intellec-
tual property. The ExxonMobil alliance provides Symyx with an
expected five-year revenue stream of over $200 mitlion from
currently planned alliance activities, purchases of Discovery
Tools systems, and licensing fees. In addition, Symyx is entitled
to receive royalties from the commercialization of materials,
processes, and products based on discoveries made in the fields
of agreement.

In December 2004, Symyx entered into an Alliance, Technology
Transfer, Research and License Agreement effective January 1,
2005 with The Dow Chemical Company under which the
Company is contracted to perform research in a number of
exclusive areas, develop and provide Symyx Discovery Tools,

and license Symyx's Renaissance suite of software as well

as certain intetlectual property. Dow will make payments to
Symyx over the five-year term of approximately $120 million.

In addition, Symyx is entitled to receive royalties on commercial-
ized discoveries resulting from the collaborative research.

The Company does not track or allocate actual costs by collabora-
tion or project, as the requirement from its collaborative partners
is to staff the various projects on a full-time-equivalent ['FTE"]
emnployee basis. Accordingly, the Company tracks the assignment
of these FTE's to each project over time. Based on the analysis

of these FTE's, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004,
approximately 81% of the Company's research effort, determined
based on employee hours charged to a project, was on research
for collaborative projects funded by the Company’s partners. The
remaining 19% of research effort was on Symyx funded research
and development. The focus of the Symyx funded programs in
2004 was largely on development of the Company's proprietary
sensor technology, on industrial polymer applications, and the
next generation of Discovery Tools. In 2003 and 2002 approxi-
mately 65% and 63%, respectively, of the Company’s research
effort was for collaborative projects funded by the Company’s
partners with approximately 35% and 37%, respectively, being
Symyx funded research.
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3. Commitments and Contingencies

LEASES

In May 1999, the Company entered into an eight-and-a-half-year
operating lease agreement for a facility, with the lease period
commencing in October 1999. In February 2000, the Company
entered intc an agreement to lease an additional facility. The lease
commenced on October 1, 2000 and has an initial term of ten
years with an option to extend the initial term for an additional five
years. In May 2003, the Company entered into an agreement to
lease a storage facility for a period of three years. In connection
with the acquisition of IntelliChem, the Company acquired the
rights and assumed the obligations for the lease of office space
under an operating lease agreement that expires in March 2008.

Rent expense, which is being recognized on a straight-line basis
aver the lease terms, was approximately $1,955,000, $1,996,000,
and $2,248,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003,
and 2002, respectively.

Future commitments and obligations under the operating leases
for the Company's facilities, to be satisfied as they become due
over the next seven years, are as follows as of December 31,
2004 (in thousands):

Years ending December 31, Amount
2005 $ 2004
2006 2,067
2007 2,126
2008 1,729
2009 1,516
Thereafter 1,170
Total $ 10,606

OTHER COMMITMENTS

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had purchase commit-
ments for inventory and fixed assets of approximately $722,000.

As of December 31, 2004 the Company had no amounts due under
loan agreements and had no lines of credit or other finance facili-
ties in place. Interest expense for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003, and 2002 was $0, $0, and $9,000, respectively.

CUSTOMER INDEMNIFICATION

From time to time, the Campany agrees to indemnify its
customers against certain third party liability, including liability
if the Company’s products infringe a third party’s intellectual
property rights. Such indemnification provisions are accounted
for in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.
The indemnification is typically limited to no more than the
amount paid by the customer. As of December 31, 2004, the
Company was not subject to any pending litigation.

4. Stockholders’ Equity

PREFERRED STOCK

In September 1999, the Board of Directors approved an amend-
ment to the Company's certificate of incorparation to authorize
10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, for which the
Board of Directors is authorized to fix the designation, powers,
preferences, and rights.

COMMON STOCK

Included in the comman shares outstanding at December 31,
2004, 2003, and 2002 are 0, 2,154, and 48,755 shares, respec-
tively, of common stock subject to repurchase rights, which
expired ratably over four or five years from date of issuance.
Certain of these shares were issued pursuant to full-recourse
notes receivable, with interest at rates between 4.6% and 6.0%
per annum and were due and payable on the earlier of 120
days after termination of the participant's employment with
the Company, or on various dates, which began in February
2003 and ended in August 2004 (See Note 8 "Related Party
Transactions.”]. As of December 31, 2004, all the balances of
notes receivable from stockholders had been repaid.
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STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

In October 1999, the Company's stockholders approved the
adoption of the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan [the
“Purchase Plan”}. A total of 300,000 shares of the Company's
common stock were initially reserved for issuance under the
Purchase Plan. The Purchase Plan permits eligible employees to
purchase common stock at a discount, but only through payroll
deductions, during concurrent 24-month offering periods. Each
offering period will be divided into four consecutive six-month
purchase periods. The price at which stock is purchased under
the Purchase Plan is equal to 85% of the fair market value of the
common stock on-the first or last day of the offering period,
whichever is lower. In addition, the Purchase Plan provides for
annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance
under the Purchase Plan on the first day of each fiscal year,
equal to the lesser of 1% of the outstanding shares of common
stock on the first day of the fiscal year, 350,000 shares, or a
lesser amount as.determined by the Board of Directors. At
December 31, 2004, shares of common stock available for future
issue under the Purchase Plan were 1,390,883.

STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company's 1996 Stock Option Plan was adopted in March
1996 and provided for the issuance of options for up to 1,153,444
shares of common stock to employees, directors, and consultants.

During 1997, the. Company's Board of Directors approved the
adoption of the 1997 Stock Option Plan with terms and conditions
the same as those of the 1996 Stock Option Plan [collectively,

the "Qualified Plans”). The 1997 Stock Option Plan provides for
the issuance of options for up to 11,463,423 shares of comman
stock to employee-and consultants. The Qualified Plans provide
for an annual increase in the number of shares of common stock
reserved for issuance equal to the lesser of 1,500,000 shares,

4% of the outstanding shares on the date of the annual increase,
or a lesser amount as determined by the Board of Directors.

In October 2001, the Company's Board of Directors approved the
adoption of the 2001 Nonstatutery Stock Option Plan (the "NSOD
Plan"). The NSO Plan provides for the issuance of options for up
to 1,000,000 shares of common stock to non-executive emplay-
ees and consultants. As of December 31, 2004, options to
purchase 385,400 shares of common stock were granted under
the NSO Plan.

In connection with the acquisition of IntelliChem, the Company
assumed all the unvested cutstanding stock options issued
pursuant to IntelliChem’s 2003 Stock Option Plan to purchase
44,126 shares of Symyx's common stock. These options gener-
ally retained all of the rights, terms, and conditions of the plan
under which they were ariginally granted.

Stock options granted under the Qualified Plans may be either
incentive stock options or nonstatutory stock options, whereas
stock options granted under the NSO Plan are nonstatutory
stock options. Options are generally granted with exercise prices
equat to the fair value of the common stock on the grant date, as
determined by the Board of Directors. The options expire no
more than 10 years after the date of grant or earlier if employ-
ment or relationship as a director or consultant is terminated.
The Board of Directors shall determine the times during the
term when the options may be exercised and the number of
shares for which an option may be granted. Options may be
granted with different vesting terms from time to time but will
provide for annual vesting of at least 20% of the total number of
shares subject to the option.
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A summary of activity under the 1996 and 1997 Stock Option Plans, the 2001 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, and the 2003
IntetliChem, Inc. Stock Option Plan is as follows:

Outstanding Stock Options

Number of Exercise Weighted-Average
Shares Price Exercise Price
Balance at January 1, 2002 4,799,319 $ 0.19 — $ 58.25 $ 2659
Options granted 1,143,925 $ 842 — $ 21.74 $ 15.32
Options exercised [(216,460) $ 019 — $ 16.70 $ 418
Options cancelled (349,803) $ 039 - $ 57.00 $ 24.81
Balance at December 31, 2002 5,376,981 $ 019 - $ 58.25 $ 25.21
Options granted 1,983,750 $11.97 — $ 30.00 $ 14.47
Options exercised (578,572 $ 019 - $ 2248 $ 1038
Options cancelled (255,159 $ 0946 - $ 57.00 $ 23.35
Balance at December 31, 2003 6,527,000 $ 019 — $ 58.25 $ 23.33
Options granted and assumed 1,950,851 $ 263 - $ 32.00 $ 26.11
Options exercised (741,302) $ 039 — $ 30.25 $ 1426
Options cancelled (302,064) $ 3.86 — $ 57.00 $ 3219
Balance at December 31, 2004 7,434,485 $ 0.19 — $ 58.25 $ 24.98

At December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, vested and outstanding options of 5,125,025, 4,287,355, and 3,067,521 shares were exercisable
at weighted-average exercise prices of $26.51, $25.75, and $20.35, respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair value of options
granted during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $12.12, $7.44, and $8.33, respectively. At December 31, 2004,
options for shares of common stock available for future grants were 481,547 shares under the 1997 Stock Option Plan and 614,400
shares under the 2001 NSO Plan.

An analysis of options outstanding at December 31, 2004 is as follows:

Options Vested

Options Ouistanding ~ Weighted-Average Remaining  Options Weighted-Average Vested at Weighted-Average
Exercise Price at December 31, 2004 Contractual Life {in years] Exercise Price December 31, 2004 Exercise Price
$ 019 -— $ 03¢ 64,561 2.9 $ 039 64,561 $ 039
$ 09 -— $ 09¢ 217,667 4.0 $ 0.9 217,667 $ 0.96
$ 193 — $ 3.8 87,391 6.6 $ 284 52,831 $ 2.99
$ 643 — $ 842 95,006 5.7 $ 7.15 75,337 $ 682
$ 1039 — $ 15.30 1,912,012 7.3 $ 1299 1,158,200 $ 12.81
$ 15.63 — $ 23.27 1,128,060 8.0 $ 1781 798,721 $ 17.29
$ 2350 — $ 34.63 2,777,683 8.0 $ 27.40 1,619,434 $ 26.76
$ 3650 — $ 5150 133,444 55 $ 4052 119,613 $ 40.68
$ 5538 — $ 58.25 1,018,661 3.7 $ 57.01 1,018,661 $ 57.01
7,434,485 7.2 $ 24.98 5,125,025 $ 26.51
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As of December 31, 2004, the Company has reserved 8,530,432
shares of common stock for future issuance in relation to the
Company’s Stock Option Plans.

Prior to year 2000, in connection with the grant of certain share
options to employees, the Company recorded deferred stock
compensation of $4,070,000 and $405,000, respectively, repre-
senting the difference between the exercise price and the
deemed fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date
such stock options were granted. Deferred stock compensation
is included as a reduction of stockholders” equity and is being
amortized to expense on a graded vesting method. During the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, the Company
recorded amortization of deferred stock compensation expense
of approximately $7,000, $43,000, and $168,000, respectively. At
December 31, 2004, the Company had fully amortized the
deferred stock compensation discussed above.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, in connection with
the acquisition of IntelliChem, the Company recorded deferred
stock compensation amounting to $651,000 for the unvested
stock options assumed with an exercise price below the fair
market value, Deferred stock compensation is included as a
reduction of stockholders’ equity and is being amortized to
expense on a graded vesting method. During the year ended
December 31, 2004, the Company recorded amortization of
deferred stock compensation expense associated with these
options of approximately $33,000. The remaining balance of
deferred stock compensation will be amortized through
November 2008.

The Company also issued stock options to an outside consultant,
for which the Company recorded approximately $500,000 and
$94,000 of stock-based compensation during the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. No options were
issued to outside consultants and no stock-based compensation
was recognized in the year ended December 31, 2002.

The amortization of deferred stock compensation, combined with
the expense associated with stock options granted to non-
employees, has been included in the following items in the
accompanying Consolidated Income Statements {in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Research and development $ 22 $ 5 $ 125
Sales, general and administrative 518 86 43
Total $ 540 $ 137 $ 168

5. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following
(in thousands):

Years Ended December 37,

2004 2003 2002

Current:
Federal $ 5,520 $ 1,255 $1.952
State 745 {78) 19
Foreign 18 10 28
Total 6,283 1,187 2,099

Deferred:
Federal (760} 235 558
State (2,194} {132 -
Total (2,956) 103 558
Provision for income taxes $ 3,327 $ 1,290 $ 2,657

Tax benefits resulting from the exercise of nonqualified stock
options and the disqualifying dispasitions of shares issued under
the Company's stock-based compensation plans were approxi-
mately $6,138,000 in 2004, $776,000 in 2003, and $3,963,000 in
2002. Such benefits were credited to additional paid-in capital.
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The reconciliation of federal statutory income tax to
the Company’s provision for income taxes is as follows
[in thousands}:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Expected provision at federal
statutory rate $ 567 $ 2461 $ 2,780
State taxes, net of
federal impact {1,451) (210) 119
Research and
development credits (1,780) (125) {50)
Valuation allowance utilized — (798] {338]
Permanent difference
related to acquisition 791 — —
Other individually
immaterial items 96 (38) 146
Provision for income taxes $ 3,327 $ 1,290 $ 2657

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabili-
ties for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company's
deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows [in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carry-forwards $ 806 $ 1,27
Deferred revenue 30 288
Capitalized research and development 472 596
Depreciation 3,935 2,940

Warranty reserve 266 734

R&D and other credits 2,442 995
Other accruals and reserves 2,304 1,528
Total deferred tax assets before
valuation allowance 10,255 8,372
Valuation allowance for deferred
tax assets (95) (6,522)
Total deferred tax assets 10,140 1,850
Deferred tax liabilities:
Investment holdings - [28)
Prepaid insurance and property tax 1486) [465)
Intangible assets (4,820} —
Total deferred tax liabilities (5,306) {493}
Net deferred tax assets $ 4,854 $ 1,357

Deferred tax assets are recognized if realization of such assets is
more likely than not. Based upon the weight of available evidence,
which inctudes the Company’s historical operating performance,
the Campany has provided a valuation allowance against deferred
tax assets that it determined may not be realizable as of
December 31, 2004. The net valuation allowance decreased by
approximately $6,427,000, $19,000, and $1,908,000 during the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.
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The reduction of valuation allowance in 2004 consisted of three
major components: [1] $4,151,000 was used to reduce goodwill
when a deferred tax liability was recorded on the acquisition of
IntelliChem, during‘ which $1,667,000 of tax benefits related to
the exercise of stock options were absorbed; (2) $1,142,000 was
related to the exercise of stock options which is not reflected as
an expensé for financial reporting purposes laccordingly, this
amount had been credited directly to equity and not reflected
as an income tax benefit in the consolidated income statement;
and (3] The remaining $1,114,000 was recognized as a state
deferred tax benefit in:the consolidated income statement.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had federal and Oregan
net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $2,277,000 and
$4,792,000, respective(y. The net operating losses arose from the
acquisition of IntelliChem and may be subject to an annual limita-
tion due to the ownership change limitations provided by the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state
provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of
net operating tosses and credits before utilization. The net operat-
ing loss carryforwards will start to expire in 2020, if not utilized.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had federal and
California research and development tax credit carryforward
of approximately $1 267,000 and $1,806,000, respectively.

The federal research and development tax credits will begin
to expire m 2011, The state research and development credits
have no expiration date:

6. Segment Disclosure

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131,
Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information (SFAS 131], requires disclosures of certain informa-
tion regarding operating segments, products and services,
geographic areas of operation and major customers. The method
for determining what information to report under SFAS 131 is
based upon the “management approach,” or the way that
management organizes the operating segments within a
company, for which separate financial information is available
that is evaluated regutarly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker
(CODM] in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance. Symyx's CODM is the Chief Executive Qfficer. The
CODM evaluates the performance of the Company based on
consolidated profit or loss from operations before income taxes.
For the purpose of making operating decisions, the CODM prima-
rily considers financial information presented on a consolidated
basis accompanied by disaggregated information about revenues.
Revenue is defined as revenues from external customers.

Symyx allocates research personnel time to each collaboration
arrangement on a full-time-equivalent basis but does not
allocate actual research and development expenses to each
collaboration or business segment. The Company does not
assess segment performance below the revenue level or
allocate sales, general and administrative expenses or assets to
the individual segments and, therefare, financial performance
including depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures
is not reported on a segment basis.

Revenue is disaggregated into:

* Industry Collaborations — research services on behalf
of collaborative partners

» Discovery Tools — sale of select proprietary instruments
and associated software and intellectual property

* Intellectual Property Licensing — license of discovered
materials and methodology patents, and royalties due to
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the Company upon successful commercialization of products
incorparating materials discovered in the Company's industry
collaborations

¢ Sensors — development services and licenses for specific
applications to intellectual property associated with the
Company's sensor technalogy

Software — license of Symyx's Renaissance and electronic
taboratory notebook (IELN] software and provision of
associated support, maintenance, and consulting services

The disaggregated financial information reviewed by the CODM
is as follows (in thousands]:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Industry Collaborations $ 40,958  $36.125 $ 28889
Industry Collaborations
- Related Party 1,173 1,671 -
Discovery Tools 28,576 18.861 31,856
Intellectual Property Licensing 4,191 3,887 3,317
Sensors 1,472 1,191 -
Software 6,665 1,228 765
Software — Related Party 150 — —
Total $ 83185  $ 62963 % 64,821




The disaggregated financial information reviewed by the CODM can be reconciled to the revenue disclosed in the Consolidated Income
Statements as follows {in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2004

Service License Fees

Service Revenue License Fees  and Royalties
Revenue -Related Party Product Sales  and Royalties -Related Party Total Revenue
Industry Collaborations $ 34,958 $1.173 $ — $ 6,000 $ - $ 42,131
Discovery Tools 2,831 - 25,714 31 - 28,576
intellectual Property Licensing — — — 41N — 4,191
Sensors 690 — 17 765 — 1,472
Software 2,599 — 1,329 2737 150 6,815
Total $ 41078 $1.173 $ 27,060 $ 13,724 $ 150 $ 83,185

Year Ended December 31, 2003

Service License Fees

Service Revenue License Fees  and Royalties
Revenue -Related Party Product Sales  and Royalties -Related Party Total Revenue
Industry Collaborations $ 31,625 $ 1,671 % — $ 4,500 $ — $ 37,796
Discovery Tools 4,403 - 14,458 — - 18.861
Intellectual Property Licensing - - — 3,887 - 3,887
Sensors 617 — - 574 - 1,191
Software 373 — — 855 - 1,228
Total $ 37.018 $ 1,67 $ 14,458 $ 9816 $ - $ 62,963

Year Ended December 31, 2002

Service License Fees

Service Revenue License Fees  and Royalties
Revenue -Related Party Product Sales  and Royalties -Related Party Total Revenue
Industry Collaborations $ 28,738 $ - $ — $ 151 $ — $ 28,889
Discovery Tools 6,230 — 25,626 - - 31,856
Intellectual Property Licensing — - — 33N - 3,311
Sensors — - - - - -
Software 429 - 251 85 - 765
Total $ 35,397 $ - $ 25877 $ 3,547 $ - $ 64,821
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GEOGRAPHIC AREA DATA

All significant long-lived assets were geographically located

in the United States for all periods presented. All revenue is
generated in the United States for all periods presented, but is
presented in the table below based on the physical tocation of
Symyx's customers lin thousands).

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

North America $ 66,607 $ 53,803 % 56,989
Japan 5,432 7174 6,525
Belgium 8,334 - -
Europe 2,812 1,986 1,307
Total $83185 $62963 $ 44,821

7. Business Combination

On November 30, 2004, Symyx acquired 100% of outstanding
common and preferred shares of IntelliChem, a provider of intel-
ligent electronic tab notebaoks {iELN] for customers in the
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and chemical industries. The
results of IntelliChem’s operations have been included in the
consolidated financial statements since that date.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 141, Business Combinations, the Company allocated the
purchase price to the tangible assets, deferred compensation,
liabilities, and intangible assets acquired, as well as in-process
research and development, based on their estimated fair values.
The excess purchase price over the fair values was recorded as
goodwill. The fair value assigned to intangible assets acquired
was based on estimates and assumptions determined by
management. The acquired goodwill was assigned entirely to the
Company's software segment. Purchased intangibles with finite
lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their respective
useful lives.

The total purchase price for this acquisition was $30,600,000,
consisting of approximately $29,259,000 in cash, $1.041,000 in
fair value of assumed stock options to purchase 44,126 shares
of Symyx common stock, and $300,000 in transaction costs,
consisting of legal and other professional service fees. Stock
options were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The assumptions used in calculating fair value were

as follows:

Group A Options  Group B Options
Expected life [years) 3 4
Risk-free rate 3.23% 3.44%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
Volatility 55.7% 55.7%
Fair value per share $ 26.05 $13.37

The intrinsic value of these options, totaling approximately
$651.000, has been recorded as deferred stock compensation.

The purchase price allocation is as follows (in thousands):

Amount
Fair value of net assets purchased § 4476
In-process research and development 2,260

Trade name 840
Developed technology 8,370
Customer relationships 4,700
Unearned stock compensation 651

Deferred tax liabilities 14,151)
Release of valuation allowance against acquirer’'s

deferred income tax assets upon recognition

of deferred income tax liabilities on acquired

identifiable intangible assets in connection

with acquisition of IntelliChem 4,151
Goodwill 9,283
Total $ 30,600
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The fair values of IntelliChem’s net assets as of the acquisition
date were {in thousands]:

Amount

Cash $ 2,492
Restricted cash ‘ 104
Accounts receivable, net 1,325
Income tax receivable 855
Prepaids and other assets 298
Plant, property and equipment 323
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities (374}
Accrued compensation (259]
Deferred revenue (288)
Fair value of IntelliChem’s net assets $ 4,476

The allocation of the consideration for the acquisition of
IntelliChem to its individual assets and liabilities was based on
management’s analysis .and estimates of the fair values of the
acquired assets and liabilities. In addition to the value assigned
to in-process research and development [IPR&D"] projects,

and IntelliChem's tangible assets, specific intangible assets were
identified and valued. The identifiable intangible assets included
customer relationships, a trade name, and developed technology.

The IPR&D project that IntelliChem has been working on was
the development of next generation of IntelliChem software.
That software has not yet been proven to be technologically
feasible but has been developed to a point where it had value
associated with potential future revenue. Because technological
feasibility was not yet proven and no alternative future uses were
believed to exist for the in-process technologies, the assigned
value was expensed immediately upon the closing date of the
acquisition, in accordance with FASE Interpretation No. 4,
Applicability of FASB Statement No. Z to Business Combinations
Accounted for by the Purchase Method.

The value of IPR&D.was determined by estimating the expected
cash flows from the projects once commercially viable, discount-
ing the net cash flows back to their present value and then
applying a percentage of completion to the calculated value as
defined below. A_discount rate of 28% was used which is higher
than IntelliChem's, computed weighted average cost of capital of
20% due to inherent risk surrounding the successful develop-
ment of the IPR&D and the increase in projected financial
results compared with historical results.

None of the goodwill will be deductible for tax purposes.

In performing this purchase price allocation, the Company
considered, among other factors, its intention for future use of
the acquired assets, analysis of historical financial performance
and estimates of future performance of IntelliChem’s products.
The fair value of intangible assets was primarily based on the
income approach. The relief from royalty approach was also
utilized when appropriate. The rates utilized to discount the net
cash flows to their present values ranged from 24% to 28%.
These discount rates were determined after consideration of the
Company's rate of return and the weighted average return on
assets. Risks the Company identified and considered in this
analysis included achieving anticipated levels of market accept-
ance and penetration, successful completion of development
efforts, market growth rates, and risks related to the impact of
potential changes in future target markets. At December 31,
2004, identifiable intangible assets purchased in the IntelliChem
acquisition consisted of the following [in thousands, except for
useful life) with a weighted average useful life of 5.2 years - no
significant residual vatue is estimated for these assets:

Amount Useful Life
Trade name $ 840 4.5 years
Developed technology 8,370 4.5 years
Customer relationships 4,700 6.5 years
Balance at December 31, 2004,
at cost $13,930

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The unaudited financial information in the table below
summarizes the combined results of operations of Symyx and
IntetliChem, on a pro forma basis, as though the companies had
been combined as of the beginning of each period presented.
The impact of the IPR&D charge associated with the acquisition
has been excluded. This pro forma financial information is
presented for informational purposes only and is not necessarily
indicative of the results of operations that would have been
achieved had the acquisition taken place at the beginning

of each period presented. The unaudited pro forma combined
income statement data for the year ended December 31, 2004
combines the historical results for Symyx for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and the historical results for Intelli-Chem
for the period of January 1, 2004 through November 30, 2004.
The unaudited pro forma combined income statement data for

67



68

Symyx Technologies, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

the year ended December 31, 2003 combines the historical
results for Symyx for the year ended December 31, 2003 and the
historical results for IntelliChem for the year ended December
31, 2003. The following amounts are in thousands, except per
share amounts.

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003
Revenue $ 84,909 $ 66,586
Net income $ 10971 $ 4382
Basic income per share $ 034 $ 014
Diluted income per share $ 032 $ 0713

8. Related Party Transactions

Prior to its initial public offering, the Company implemented a
program under which directors, executive officers and certain
other employees were permitted to purchase restricted stock or
to exercise stock options pursuant to full recourse promissory
notes. The notes had interest rates of between 4.6% and 6.0%
per annum and were due and payable on the earlier of 120 days
after termination of employment or on various dates which
began in February 2003 and ended in August 2004. In 1999 and
1998, loans were made in the amount of $361,000 and $398,000,
respectively, pursuant to this program. During 2004, 2003, and
2002, $134,000, $270,000, and $5,000 of these promissory notes
were repaid, respectively. As of December 31, 2004, these loans
had been fully repaid.

In January 2003, the Company formed Ilypsa, Inc. ("llypsa”l,
formerly known as Symyx Therapeutics, Inc., as a wholly-
owned subsidiary. In connection with the formation of llypsa,
the Company licensed to llypsa exclusive rights to certain of the
Company's intellectual property within a specific field with no
cost basis to the Company, while retaining the rights to use and
commercialize certain data generated by llypsa outside its field.
From llypsa’s inception through May 6, 2003, the operating
results of llypsa were consolidated into the Company’s financial
statements. On May 6, 2003, llypsa completed a private financing
with outside investors led by The Sprout Group and 5am
Ventures, raising an aggregate of $8,000,000, which reduced the
Company's ownership position in Ilypsa to approximately 46% of
shares outstanding. In cannection with Ilypsa’s financing, the
Company retained the right to designate one of three members

of lypsa’s Board of Directors. The Company’s current designee
to llypsa's Board is its President, Isy Goldwasser. in November
2003, llypsa completed a second closing of its Series A financing,
raising an additional $2,350,000. As of December 31, 2004, the
Company’'s ownership position in llypsa was approximately 37%
of shares outstanding. The Company’s President, Isy Goldwasser
and one of its Directors, Peter Schultz, each participated in

the Series A Financing and exercised certain shares of stock
options. They each currently hold approximately 1.1% of Ilypsa’s
shares outstanding.

The Company accounts for its ownership interest in llypsa on the
equity method as the Company and its affiliates do not control
the strategic, operating, investing, and financing activities of
llypsa. As the Company's investment in Ilypsa has no cost basis
for accounting purposes under generally accepted accounting
principles, the Company has not recorded any proportianate
share of llypsa's operating losses in its financial statements
since the completion of llypsa’s initial financing.

On May 6, 2003, the Company also entered into an 18 month
Collaborative Research and License Agreement with llypsa.

Under the terms of this Agreement, llypsa paid research funding
to the Company in consideration for direct costs incurred by the
Company specifically attributable to, or specifically used in further-
ance of, the research program. Research funding payments were
due to the Company at the start of each month, with an adjust-
ment at the end of each month for the difference between forecast
and actual costs incurred. Revenue resulting from work performed
under this Agreement during the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003 amounted to $1,173,000 and $1,671,000, respectively,
and has been classified as related party revenue. During the year
ended December 31, 2004, the Company received $150,000 as
consideration for a software license granted to llypsa, Inc. The
amount receivable from llypsa was $7,000 as of December 31, 2004
and $0 as of December 31, 2003. The amount received under the
above Agreement in advance of the services being provided was

$0 at December 31, 2004 and $137,000 at December 31, 2003 and
has been classified as an advance from a related party. In April
2004, the Company sold certain fixed assets with a net book value
of $72,000 te Ilypsa for $227,000. The consolidated gain on the
sale was included in interest and other income in the consolidated
income statement.




The Company has no repurchase rights with respect to either
the licensed technology or the results of research conducted
under the Collaborative Research and License Agreement.

9. Financial Instruments

The Company has not entered into any derivative contracts at
December 31, 2004. The following is @ summary of the
Company’s risk management strategies and the effect of these
strategies on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of
cash and investments. The Company does not carry a significant
trade accounts receivable balance. The Company maintains cash
and cash equivalents and available-for-sale investments in
various corporate debt securities, money market funds, and U.S.
Treasury notes. The Company’s policy is designed to limit
exposure to any one institution or company. The retative credit
standing of the note holders is monitored to ensure compliance
with the Company's investment strategy. The Company does not
require collateral on these financial instruments.

INVESTMENTS

The following methods and assumptions were used by the
Company in estimating its fair value disclosures for financial
instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount reported in
the balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents is its fair value.

Accounts receivable and accounts payable: The carrying amounts
reported in the balance sheet for accounts receivabte and
accounts payable approximate their fair value.

Available-for-sale securities: The fair values for available-for-
sale equity securities are based on quoted market prices.
The fair values for available-for-sale securities together with
information in relation to their maturity dates are included in
Note 1 to these financial statements.

10. Intangible Assets

ACQUIRED TECHNOLOGY

In February 2000, the Company exercised an option to license
certain patent rights and know-how relating to synthesis and
screening of diverse materials in connection with combinatorial
materials science research. Symyx paid $750,000 and also
issued 16,262 shares of common stock to acquire these rights.
The License Agreement also provides for Symyx to pay up to an
additional $1,500,000 subject to the achievement of certain
mitestones. Subsequently, milestone payments of $250,000 were
made in each of July 2000, December 2001, and October 2003.
The exercise of this option and the subsequent milestone
payments have been accounted for as an acquisition of technol-
ogy and the associated costs are being amortized over the
expected remaining useful life of the technology. In December
2004, the Company paid an additional $375,000 and committed
to pay a final $375,000 in June 2005 to gain additional rights that
were an excluded field under the original license arrangement.
The remaining unamortized balance of the acquired technology
is being amortized over a five-year period from December 2004.
Additional patents were acquired from a third party in May 2003
for $65,000 and are being amortized over a five-year period,
representing the estimated useful life of this acquired technol-
ogy. In fiscal years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002,
the Company recorded approximately $191,000, $3469,000, and
$425,000, respectively, of amortization expense related to
acquired technology.

ACQUIRED INTANGIBLES

The Company obtained certain intangible assets in the acquisi-
tion of IntelliChem in November 2004 {See Note 7 "Business
Combination”]. These identifiable intangible assets include a
trade name, developed technology, and customer relationships
and are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. For fiscal 2004 the
Company recorded intangible asset amortization expense of
$231,000 related to this acquisition.
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Total intangible assets consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003
Gross Carrying  Accumulated  Net Carrying  Gross Carrying  Accumutated  Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount  Amortization Amount
Acquired technology $ 3,130 {1,715] $ 1.415 $ 2,380 $ (1,524 $ 856
Trade name 860 (16 844 - - —
Developed technology 8.370 (155 8,215 — - —
Customer relationship 4,700 (60] 4,640 — — -
Total intangibles $17.060 $ (1,946 $ 15,114 $ 2,380 $ (1524) $ 856

Assuming no subsequent impairment of the underlying assets, the annual amortization expense of total intangible assets is expected
to be approximately $3,066,000 in each of the years 2005 through 2007, $3.058,000 in 2008 and $1,833,000 in 2009.

11. Subsequent Events

On February 22, 2005, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to acquire 100% of the outstanding shares of privately-held
Synthematix, Inc. ("Synthematix”], based in Durham, North Carolina. Synthematix is a provider of organic synthesis reaction planning
software systems far scientific knowledge management in chemistry research, with customers primarily in the pharmaceutical and
biotechnology industries. The Company agreed to pay approximately $13 million in cash, plus an additional potential payment of

$4 million over a one-year period based on the achievement of incremental revenue targets. The Company also agreed to assume
options to purchase approximately 27,500 shares of its common stock. The Company expects to close this transaction in April 2005.




12. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is @ summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands,

except per share amounts).

Three Months Ended

2004 March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31 (b {c]
Total revenue ‘ $19.479 $ 18,916 $ 19,558 $ 25,232
Operating expenses:
Cost of products sold 1,678 1,940 1,437 2.802
Research and development 10,842 10,422 9,864 10,014
Sales, general.and administrative 41 4,311 4,375 5,441
In-process research and development — - - 2.260
Total operating expenses 16,631 16,673 15,676 20,517
Interest and other income (expensel, net 519 716 610 676
Income before income tax expense {benefit] 3,367 2,959 4,492 539
Income tax expense (benefit) 1,360 1,247 1,720 {1,000)
Net income $ 2007 $ 172 $ 2772 $ 639
Basic net income per share (a) $ 006 $ 005 $ D09 $ 020
Diluted net income per share (a) $ 006 $ 005 $ 008 $ 019
Three Months Ended
2003 March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31 (b (¢
Total revenue $ 14,859 $ 14,997 $ 14,469 $ 18,638
Operating expenses:
Cost of products sold 1,078 840 154 905
Research and development 9,380 10,148 10,411 10,119
Sales, general and administrative 3,792 3,579 3,485 4,077
Total operating expenses 14,250 14,527 14,050 15,101
Interest and other income [expensel, net 580 487 439 490
Income before income tax expense 1,189 957 858 4,027
Income tax expense 476 339 206 269
Net income ‘ $ 713 $ 418 $ 652 $ 3758
Basic net income per share (2] $ 002 $ 002 $ 002 $ 012
Diluted net income per share (a) $ 0.02 $ 002 $ 002 $ 0.1

[al Earning per share, or EPS, for each quarter is computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during that quarter, while EPS
for the fiscal year is computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year. Thus, the sum of the EPS for each of the four

quarters may not equal the EPS for the fiscal year.

{b) In the last quartef of both fiscal years 2004 and 2003, delivery of high dollar value Discovery Tools systems to the Company's customers resulted in signifi-
cantly higher product sales revenue and earnings per share in those respective quarters when compared with the other quarters in each of those two years.

{c] In the last quarter of both fiscal years 2004 and 2003, income tax benefits recognized upon the retease of valuation allowances resulted in higher
earnings per share in those respective quarters when compared with the other quarters in each of those two years.
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